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Vision

to be a global consumer healthcare company with a focus in 

traditional chinese medicine and integrative healthcare.

Mission

to care for mankind by helping our consumers realise good 

life-long health.

Eu Yan sang is a progressive consumer healthcare brand 

built around a commitment to product excellence and 

innovation in tcm. starting out in 1879 with the intention 

of benefiting mankind through the provision of the finest 

natural products, this altruistic philosophy remains the 

company’s core principle today. 
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on behalf of the Board of directors, i am pleased to present our annual report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2008.

The Year in Review

eu yan sang will be entering its fourteenth decade of continuous operations in the coming year, a track 
record few companies can lay claim to.  

our longevity and success in the past can be attributed to our unwavering commitment to the quality of our 
products, which has built a solid reputation, a trusted brand and a resulting base of loyal customers. we will 
strengthen our prospects for the future by both building upon this base and staying relevant to the needs of 
our customers through bringing new products to the market and exploring new channels through which to 
reach a wider circle of new consumers.

the last 12 months have been very much about preparing our company for the next decade.  we have made 
some hard decisions, but they are the right decisions to secure our company’s future.   

the group has renewed its focus on our core traditional chinese medicine (tcm) business.  we took 
the necessary steps to complete our exit from non-core businesses within the group. we restructured our 
investment in the retail concept store red white & pure into a 20% holding in the sanctuary spa group.  this 
will enable eu yan sang to remain focused on tcm while maintaining an interest in the fast growing health 
and lifestyle sector. our australian subsidiary, yourhealth group pty ltd, has completed its period under 
voluntary administration and is in the process of liquidation.
 
these two decisions - the restructuring of red white and pure and the liquidation of yourhealth group – 
both impacted on the group’s profitability which at s$4.9 million, is 67% lower than last year.

while the decline in net profits is painful, we are confident that the company is now ready for its next stage 
of growth and development.  our group revenue rose 15% to s$208.5 million for the year ended 30th June 
2008, while maintaining our gross margin at 50% despite fluctuating and rising raw material prices.  we 
grew our revenue across all our business segments.  hong kong revenue jumped 19% to hk$515 million 
while singapore increased by 11% to s$60 million. malaysia recorded an impressive growth rate of 28% to 
rm$122 million with the success of various marketing campaigns.

chairman’s message
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A Premium and Trusted  Brand

eu yan sang is recognised in asia as a trusted household brand and as a leader in the industry – innovating 
and setting trends.  we were awarded the prestigious platinum trusted Brand by readers’ digest for two 
consecutive years; the “top 10 Favourite Brand” by guangzhou daily – an award we have won for four 
consecutive years; the hong kong 2007-08 yahoo emotive Brand as well as the Brand laurette heritage 
award by asia Brand Foundation in malaysia. 

these awards help to reinforce the consumer’s 
established belief in the integrity of our brand 
and our products.  this loyalty to our brand is 
important especially in challenging economic 
times when families must make decisions 
on where to spend their hard earned money.  
even in difficult times, consumers will place 
a premium on taking care of their health and 
welfare of their family and loved ones.  this will 
help guard our business against the worst of an 
economic downturn.  

we will leverage on our branding efforts to 
build new customers and engage them to find 
solutions for their life-long health through 
relevant tcm products and services.

Long Term Commitment to shareholder Value

to signify our long-term commitment to deliver tangible value to our shareholders, the directors are 
recommending a first and final dividend of 1 cent and a special dividend of 1 cent, making a total of 2 cents 
per ordinary share (same as per last year). Both are tax exempt one-tier dividends.

chairman’s message
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Prospects

Business conditions will continue to be challenging in the coming year. we expect rising retail rents, volatile 
oil prices, higher manpower costs and inflation to affect consumer sentiment and business prospects.  the 
group is aware of these issues and we will take proactive steps to address them. 

we will focus on growing sales in our existing stores and keeping a firm handle on operating costs. we 
will expand our distribution network very selectively, adding new retail outlets only where required profit 
margins can clearly be realised. the successful launch of several new chinese proprietary medicines and 
health Foods during Fy2008 contributed to turnover - we are targeting to introduce an additional nine to 
twelve new products in Fy2009. 

we expect our tcm clinics to continue benefiting from increased awareness of traditional and integrative 
medicine.  as with our retail stores, we will place greater emphasis on increasing revenue from existing 
clinics, while seeking opportunities to open two to four new clinics annually.

we are constantly looking for opportunities to expand our tcm business within existing and new markets, 
in particular china and taiwan.  we currently have a retail store and two retail counters in guangzhou. we 
are building a team to expand our presence in china. in september 2007, we opened our first retail outlet in 
taipei. we have added two more retail counters since then to tap into taiwan’s 23 million consumers. 

Appreciation

on behalf of the Board, i thank our management and staff for their hard work, dedication and loyalty to the 
group.  i also thank all our customers, bankers, business associates, suppliers and shareholders for their 
continuous support. 

my gratitude is extended to my distinguished fellow members of the Board for their guidance to the group 
throughout the year.

JEnnifER LEE
chairman
22 september 2008

chairman’s message
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operations review

overview 

amid a backdrop of high inflation, looming credit crunch, foreign exchange fluctuations and slower economic 
growth across the region, group revenue rose 15% to s$208.5 million for the year ended 30th June 2008. 

gross margin remained stable at 50.1% despite general increase in raw material costs. this was achieved via 
greater synergy and efficiency within our retail, wholesale and manufacturing network. 

profit for the year is lower by 67% to s$4.9 million as compared to Fy2007. this was mainly due to the 
impairment of red white & pure pte ltd’s plants and equipments amounting to s$2.4 million and s$2.4 
million discontinued operations losses plus s$3.9 million in respect of impairment of long term investments 
in unquoted shares. in addition, yourhealth group pty ltd (and its subsidiaries), which is under liquidation, 
realised a loss of s$0.5 million which is mainly due to realisation of exchange translation losses. included 
in the last year profit were gains on disposal of properties and elixir’s business amounting to s$1.3 million 
and $1.4 million respectively.

as a result, profit for Fy2008 was s$4.9 million, 67% lower than Fy2007.

with the end of the administration and the liquidation of yourhealth group pty ltd (and its subsidiaries), 
impairment of the long term investments in unquoted shares and the restructured business at red white 
& pure pte ltd (and its subsidiary, rwp Food services pte ltd) resulted in an impairment of its plants and 
equipments, amounting to s$5.3 million loss.
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growth was broad-based, registering across the group’s three key markets.

in local currency terms, hong kong revenue jumped 19% to hk$515.0 million while singapore increased 
by 11% to s$60.3 million. malaysia recorded an impressive growth rate of 28% to rm$121.9 million with 
the success of various marketing campaigns. 

Turnover By Activities

s$’m

among the group’s business segments, wholesale spearheaded revenue growth by an increase of 17% 
to s$33.0 million. the growth rate was understated as the reporting currency strengthened against the 
respective local currencies. in local currency terms, the growth ranged from 6% to 41%.

revenue from clinics was up by 9% to s$13.7 million which represents 6.6% of the group’s total revenue. 
the group added 2 clinics to a total of 18 clinics in singapore and 3 clinics in malaysia to meet the 
increasing consumer demand. 

the group will place emphasis on increasing revenue from existing clinics, while seeking opportunities to 
open two to four new clinics annually.

operations review
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operations review
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the group’s largest segment, retail grew a healthy 15% in revenue to s$161.1 million. the improvement 
was contributed by the opening of 19 outlets, together with improvements in two key retail performance 
indicators, same store sales and sales per square foot. as of 30 June 2008, the group had 144 stores - 44 in 
hong kong, 54 in malaysia, 38 in singapore, 3 in china, 2 in macau and 3 in taiwan.

the group targets to open 10 to 12 new stores each year, while enhancing returns from existing stores 
through effective advertising and marketing strategies as well as improvements in merchandise mix.
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Top 5 Products Groups by Revenue

Product name Purpose
fY08 
s$’m

fY07 
s$’m

% 
Change

Bo ying compound infants’ health 19.6 16.4 20

Bottled Bird’s nest general health maintenance 19.5 20.8 (6)

Bak Foong pills women’s health,
nourishes blood and Qi

14.1 14.1 -

lingzhi cracked spores improves immunity 8.8 9.3 (5)

essence of chicken general health maintenance 6.1 5.2 17

Total 68.1 65.8 3

with the successful renewal of product license for Bo ying compound in china since Fy2007, sales for this 
longstanding product went up strongly for the second consecutive year, improving 14% to s$16.4 million in 
Fy2007 and a further 20% to s$19.6 million in Fy2008 to replace Bottled Bird’s nest as the group’s best-
selling product. 

sales of Bottled Bird’s nest products were stable at s$19.5 million due to timing of promotions and greater 
emphasis on other products within our portfolio during the year. in Fy2009, initiatives such as the expansion 
of our wholesale business in china will be implemented to drive sales of Bottled Bird’s nest products.

Bak Foong pills remained a strong contributor to our performance and we expect to put in further promotional 
efforts to enhance sales performance in various markets including china. we currently distribute Bo ying 
compound and Bak Foong pills to over 7,000 hospitals and drug stores in china.

sales of lingzhi cracked spores capsules fell marginally by 5% to s$8.8 million as the surge in raw material 
costs of lingzhi had gone up significantly, with our promotional efforts somewhat offsetting the reduced 
consumer demand. 

essence of chicken products moved into our top five products since Fy2007 and continued to post strong 
sales performance for Fy2008. this was due to the effective advertising and promotional efforts.

our strategy is to roll out approximately nine to twelve new products each year to continuously diversify 
and increase revenue.

operations review
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Board of directors

DR JEnnifER LEE
non-executive chairman

dr Jennifer lee was appointed as the non-executive chairman of the Board on 9 april 2007. dr lee has been 
an independent director since 7 July 2000. she serves as the chairman of the compensation committee and 
as a member to the audit and nominating committees.

dr lee is a graduate of the medical faculty of the then singapore university, and subsequently obtained her 
mBa from national university of singapore. she began her career in healthcare in the practice of medicine 
in her first several years post graduation, moving subsequently into healthcare management at the ministry 
of health. she was chief operating officer in the singapore general hospital, in which capacity she was 
involved in its corporatisation, and subsequently moved on to become ceo of kk women’s and children’s 
hospital for 13 years from 1991. she was a nominated member of parliament from 1999 to 2004.

RiCHARD EU
group chief executive officer

richard eu, group ceo, is responsible for the overall corporate development and management of the eys 
group. prior to this, he worked in merchant banking, investment management, stock broking, computer 
distribution and venture capital before becoming the group general manager of eu yan sang holdings ltd 
(eysh) in 1989. eysh was the owner of the eu yan sang business in singapore and malaysia at that time. in 
1993, richard organised a management buyout of the business and in 1996 it was merged with the eu yan 
sang business in hong kong, forming the eu yan sang international group, as it is today. 

richard is an independent director of Broadway industrial group limited, the chairman of the governing 
council of singapore institute of management and harry’s holdings limited. richard graduated with a 
Bachelor’s degree in law from london university, uk. apart from his business interests, he is also involved 
in community projects and non-profit organizations.
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CLiffoRD EU
managing director & executive Vice president, international

clifford eu, managing director & eVp of eu yan sang international ltd, is responsible for the  expansion into 
international markets of the group.  he joined the group in 1994. prior to this, he was involved with his 
family’s investment holding group, overseeing its manufacturing and distribution operations in singapore 
and malaysia. in 1986, he co-founded a company, which distributes consumer health products. clifford 
graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from the university of melbourne, australia.

LEsLiE MAH
executive director

leslie mah was appointed as an executive director on 3 January 2006 and is responsible for group 
strategy, business developments and investor relations. prior to this, leslie was chief Financial officer and 
was instrumental in spearheading many milestones and developments for the group which included the 
introduction of high-end premium bottled bird’s nests, the inception of eu yan sang specialist tcm centres 
in singapore and restructuring of the group’s borrowings. in 2005, leslie led the group in its expansion 
efforts with the entering of the thailand market. Before joining eu yan sang international ltd, he was the 
executive director and company secretary for cerebos pacific limited. prior to his tenure at cerebos, he was 
the Finance director of harpers gilfillan. he is an independent non-executive director of hotel properties 
limited and goodpack limited. leslie is also a Fellow member of the institute of chartered accountants in 
england and wales.

RoBERT EU
non-executive director

robert eu was appointed as a non-executive director of our company since 24 January 1997.  he is a 
managing director at wr hambrecht + co, a us-based investment bank.  he is also chairman and ceo 
of aeX enterprises, a hongkong-based financial services firm whose main operating subsidiary is Boom 
securities, a leading hongkong online brokerage firm.  From 1993-1998, robert was a managing director of 
h&Q asia pacific, a leading asian private equity firm.  From 1992-1993, he was the Business development 
manager for eu yan sang (hong kong) limited.  robert was also with citibank na hongkong.  robert 
graduated with a Bachelor of arts in history from northwestern university, usa.

Board of directors
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Board of directors

MALCoLM AU
independent director

malcolm au was appointed to our Board as an independent director on 2 January 2004. he started his career 
with campbell soup company in canada. subsequently, he was promoted to start campbell’s business in 
the Far east as its first managing director. he was also elected to the Board of campbell’s in australia. in 
1991, he founded artal Food industries limited, aFi, as a partner and managing director. aFi invested in 
food businesses in hong kong, prc, singapore, malaysia and indonesia. aFi also became the biggest bread 
baking company in china. he retired in 2003. malcolm is a non-executive director of china-hong kong 
photo products holdings ltd, the distributor of Fuji Films in hong kong and china, and convenience retail 
asia ltd, the franchisee of circle k stores in hong kong and china, both being publicly listed companies in 
hong kong. malcolm holds a Bachelor of science degree in chemical engineering and a master of science 
degree in Food science both from the university of wisconsin, usa and a master of Business administration 
degree from the university of toronto, canada.

iAn sPEnCE
independent director

ian spence was appointed to our Board as an independent director on 2 december 2002. he is a new 
Zealander, a permanent resident of singapore. he is currently an independent director of several private 
and public companies in singapore. ian is a chartered accountant and a commerce graduate from otago 
university, new Zealand.
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HEAD offiCE - Eu Yan sang international Ltd (EYsi)

Kf TAn
chief operating officer 

kF tan joined the group in april 2004 as the group Financial controller. currently, he holds the position 
of chief operating officer and is responsible for the strategic and operational leadership of the group’s 
sales, marketing, production and distribution of tcm and health care products. in addition, he will also 
focus on strengthening operation efficiency within and across countries and building a strong team spirit 
within the group. Before joining us, he was the managing director of nextec applications pte ltd and was 
responsible for finance and operations for about four years. prior to his tenure at nextec, he spent 11 years 
with natsteel chemicals ltd and his last held position was general manager. kF is an associate member of 
the institute of chartered accountants in england and wales, and also a cpa with the institute of certified 
public accountants of singapore and the malaysia institute of accountants.

DAnnY HEnG
chief Financial officer and company secretary

danny heng joined the group in august 2008. he is responsible for the group finance, it, and corporate 
secretarial functions. he has extensive financial and audit experience in the banking, manufacturing and 
trading environment with multinational and sgX-listed companies such as alantac technology ltd, hsu 
Fu chi international ltd, philips electronics singapore and Jp morgan. he graduated with a Bachelor of 
Business administration (Finance and investment management) from the city university of new york and a 
master of science (accounting and information management) from pace university, new york. he is a cpa 
with the institute of certified public accountants of singapore and the american institute of certified public 
accountants and is a member of the institute of management accountants, institute of certified internal 
auditors and singapore institute of directors.

senior management
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DR PATRiCK H M LoH
senior Vice president, scientific affairs

dr patrick loh joined us in June 2007. he is responsible for the group’s development and management for 
product quality and biotechnological advances. patrick currently also holds adjunct professorship at three 
university institutions, the western australian state agricultural Biotechnology centre (saBc), murdoch 
university, the singapore management university (smu) and the singapore institute of management 
university (unisim). in addition, he is the agri-advisor to the agri-Food & Veterinary authority of singapore 
(aVa). he is a Board director of public-listed pt. citra kebun raya agri in Jakarta, indonesia. patrick is a 
qualified member of the institute of horticulture (mihort), the institute of leisure & amenity management 
(milam) in the united kingdom and the australian institute of agricultural science & technology (aiast) 
and a certified practising agriculturist (cpag) of australia and new Zealand. he received his doctoral 
research training in plant virology and tissue culture technology from the institute of arable crops research, 
united kingdom and a master’s degree in Business administration from the university of dubuque, usa. 
he is also a member of the singapore institute of directors. patrick was conferred the public service medal 
(pBm) in 2001 and the public service star (BBm) in 2006 by his excellency, the president of the republic 
of singapore. 

CHin GEK MEi
Vice president, international operations

chin gek mei joined the company in october 2006. she is responsible to develop and manage business 
alliances for the group. prior to joining us, she had extensive experience in consumer marketing and product 
management within financial and retail institutions. Besides spearheading initiatives in customer relationship 
management across different segments of customers, she had set-up new departments in customer retention, 
telemarketing and direct marketing. in addition to scoping and developing different distribution channels, 
gek mei had formulated directions within brand and service quality management across touch points with 
customers. she graduated with a Bachelor of science (honours) in actuarial science from the university of 
western ontario, canada.

senior management
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ViCToR KHAw
Vice president, human resources

Victor khaw joined the group in February 2008.  he is responsible for the group’s human resource and 
organization development initiatives. his charter is to align human capital strategy with business priorities 
and to ensure continuous upgrade of the group’s human resource practices with a view to attract and retain 
talents and forge a competent and engaged workforce. Victor has extensive regional hr experience in the 
asia pacific region in both generalist and specialist capacity with mncs such as nokia, Becton dickinson 
and cBi overseas. he obtained his master of Business administration from heriot watt university and 
Bachelor of Business from the university of tasmania.  he also holds several specialist qualifications in 
human resource management, training and development, compensation and Benefits.

DAwn LEE
Vice president, product marketing

dawn lee joined the group in may 2005. she is responsible for developing marketing strategies to support 
the expansion of the group’s business, new product development, market research, customer relationship 
management and business collaboration on product development with strategic partners. dawn has extensive 
experience in marketing and brand management, as well as sales management and business development 
for consumer packaged goods. her prior employment included companies such as 3m, sara lee, Quaker 
oats and smithkline Beecham. she holds a Bachelor of Business administration degree from the national 
university of singapore.  

CARYn PEH
Vice president, care delivery

caryn peh joined the group in august 2005. she is responsible for developing the group’s clinic business 
(both traditional chinese medicine and integrative medicine) globally. prior to joining us, she was the general 
manager for singapore’s largest private and non-hospital based clinical laboratory, Quest laboratories. she 
has prior healthcare and consumer experiences in singapore, china and Vietnam. they include training, 
sales, marketing and senior management responsibilities for wyeth pharmaceuticals and mars, inc. caryn 
obtained her master of Business administration from the university of leicester, u.k. and Bachelor of 
Business administration from the national university of singapore.

senior management
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senior management

JoAnnA wonG
Vice president, Brand management and corporate communications

Joanna wong joined the group in march 2000. her main responsibily is to direct the group’s external 
communication programmes including investors’ relations and public relations. she is responsible for the 
group’s corporate affairs, sponsorships and marketing events. she also directs brand management and 
communication programmes in new markets as the company expands regionally. Joanna had extensive 
communications and marketing experience in luxury Fmcg products in the se asian region. she holds a 
master of arts in communication management from the university of south australia. 

CHinA - Eu Yan sang Trading (GuangDong) Limited (EYsC)

LiM TEE How
managing director (eysc) & senior Vice president (eysi)

lim tee how joined the group in June 2008. he is responsible for the overall business, operations and 
performance of our china venture and is based in guangzhou. tee how has extensive work experience in 
sales, marketing, distribution, logistics, production, consulting and general management with organizations 
such as kerry Beverages ltd and Fraser and neave limited. he holds a master of Business administration 
from the university of Bath, u.k.

17



HonG KonG - Eu Yan sang (Hong Kong) Limited (EYsHK)

ALiCE wonG
managing director (eyshk) & senior Vice president (eysi)

alice wong joined us in 1993.  she is responsible for the overall performance, business and operation of 
eyshk.  in august 2008, she has been re-appointed as a member of the chinese medicines Board under 
the chinese medicine council of hong kong, hksarg, for a further three-year term.  in september 2008, 
she was re-appointed as a member of school of chinese medicine advisory committee, hong kong Baptist 
university for another 2 years.  since march 2007, she has been serving as the Vice president of hong kong 
chinese patent medicine manufacturers’ association ltd. with a term expiring in February 2009.  in addition, 
she has been an honorary advisor of the society of chinese materia medica of hong kong Baptist university 
since april 2007.
 
prior to joining us, alice had over fifteen years’ working experience as an accountant in both hong kong 
and transnational companies.  she holds a master of arts in communication management from university of 
south australia and a diploma in Business administration from wigan & leigh college, u.k.

wiLLiAM sUnG
general manager, Finance and administration

william sung joined us in 1997. he was responsible for the financial and it matters until he has been 
retitled as general manager, Finance and administration in July 2006. he has the added responsibility of 
overseeing the administration and human resources matters of the hong kong group. william is a member 
of both the hong kong institute of certified public accountants and the association of chartered certified 
accountants.

ELLA LEE
general manager, sales and marketing

ella lee joined the company in 1995. she is responsible for the sales and marketing activities of eyshk 
which includes the retail and wholesales business units. in addition, she also spearheads the hong kong’s 
customer loyalty programme. ella holds a master of science in marketing from the chinese university of 
hong kong, a Bachelor of social sciences and a postgraduate diploma in marketing from the university of 
hong kong.

senior management
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senior management

KiM wU
senior manager, Factory operations

kim wu joined us in october 2000. he is responsible for the factory operations and quality control. he 
holds a Bachelor of chemistry and a master of Biotechnology from hong kong university of science and 
technology. he currently holds the chartered Biologist status (cBiol miBiol) from institute of Biology and the 
chartered chemist status from the royal australian chemical institute incorporated (mraci cchem).

MALAYsiA - Eu Yan sang (1959) sdn Bhd (EYsM)

LoK EnG HoCK
managing director (eysm) & senior Vice president (eysi)

lok eng hock joined us in 1982. he is responsible for the overall performance, business and manufacturing 
operations of eysm and weng li sdn. Bhd. he holds a Bachelor of commerce degree from the then nanyang 
university, singapore.

ERiC CHiU
senior general manager

eric chiu joined us in 1996. he is presently responsible for the overall performance of weng li sdn. Bhd. 
and is responsible for assisting in the overall trading operation of eysm. eric holds a master of Business 
administration degree from maastricht school of management (msm), the netherlands. he is a member of 
both the malaysia institute of accountants and cpa australia.

wonG KAH CAnE
general manager

wong kah cane re-joined us in april 2006. currently, he is responsible for assisting the implementation and 
development of strategic sales and marketing plan for eysm. he holds a Bachelor of Business administration 
from universiti utara malaysia.
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sinGAPoRE - Eu Yan sang singapore Pte Ltd (EYss)

VinCEnT LiM
managing director (eyss) & senior Vice president (eysi)

Vincent lim joined us in march 2003. he is responsible for the overall business, operations and performance of 
eyss. in addition, Vincent also manages the business operations of yin yang spa products pte ltd. Vincent has 
many years of management experience in the food & beverage, retail, health products and service industries, 
both locally and overseas. Vincent holds a Bachelor of Business administration degree from the royal melbourne 
institute of technology, australia.

wEE CHin LiAn
assistant general manager, Finance

wee chin lian joined us in February 2006. he is responsible for the financial management of eyss. prior 
to joining us, he had more than 10 years experience in retail industry dealing with health food and health 
supplements. he is a fellow member of both the institute of certified public accountants of singapore (icpas) 
and the association of chartered certified accountants (acca).

ERAinE foo
assistant general manager, sales

eraine Foo joined us in august 2002. she is responsible for the sales operations of eyss. prior to joining us, she 
had more than 15 years in retail industry dealing with high fashions and brand management. she holds a master 
of Business administration degree from the university of northumbria, newcastle, uk.

senior management
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RETAiL oUTLETs

CHinA
Guangzhou
citic plaza, tianhe north road
Friendship store, huan shi east road
Jin tian park n shop, tianhe north
    road

HonG KonG
Hong Kong island
cityplaza, taikoo shing
king’s centre, king’s road
kornhill plaza, Quarry Bay
Queensway plaza, Queensway
Queen’s road, central
russell street, causeway Bay
shun tak centre, sheung wan
the peak tower, the peak
yee wo street, causeway Bay

Kowloon
chatham road south, tsimshatsui
china hong kong city, tsimshatsui
Fu yan street, kwun tong
grand century place, mongkok
hang lung mansion, mongkok
lai chi kok road, shamshuipo
langham place, mongkok
nathan road, mongkok
olympian city 2,west kowloon
peking road, tsimshatsui
plaza hollywood, diamond hill
sham shui po mtr station
tak man street, hunghom
telford phaza ii, telford
whampoa garden, hunghom-Jusco

new Territories
castle peak road, yuen long
chelsea heights, tuen mun
discovery park, tsuen wan

east point city, tseung kwan o
hong kong international airport
landmark north, sheung shui
luk yeung galleria, tsuen wan
ma on shan plaza, ma on shan
maritime square, tsing yi
metro city plaza ii, tseung kwan o
shatin plaza, shatin
sheung shui centre, sheung shui
sunshine city plaza, ma on shan-
    mannings
tai wai road, shatin
tsuen kam centre, tsuen wan
tsuen wan plaza, tsuen wan
tuen mun town plaza, tuen mun
uptown plaza, tai po

Pronature Counter
elements, kowloon station

MACAU
avenida, macau
Venetian, cotai

MALAYsiA
Johor
carrefour shopping centre, pandan
Flora utama, Batu pahat
Jalan ali, muar
Jusco desa tebrau
Jalan sutera, taman sentosa
Jusco permas Jaya shopping centre
sutera mall, skudai

Melaka
dataran pahlawan melaka megamall
Jusco, melaka shopping centre
tesco, melaka

negeri sembilan
Jalan dato’ Bandar tunggal
Jusco, seremban 2 shopping centre 

Kuala Lumpur
carrefour, endah parade, sri petaling
carrefour, kepong
cheras leisuremall, taman segar
mid point shopping centre, pandan 
    indah
lucky plaza, Jalan klang lama
Jusco, alpha angle shopping 
    complex
Jusco, metro prima, kepong
Jusco, taman maluri
mid Valley megamall
shaw parade, changkat thambi dollah
tesco extra, cheras
the gardens, mid Valley city

selangor
aeon, Bukit tinggi shopping centre
Bukit raja shopping centre
giant , kota damansara 
giant hypermarket klang
ioi mall, Bandar puchong Jaya
Jusco, Bandar puchong Jaya
Jusco, cheras selatan, Belakong
Jusco, one utama shopping centre
Jusco, taman equine shopping centre
ss2, petaling Jaya
selayang mall, Batu caves
summit usJ
taipan, uep, subang Jaya
tesco, puchong
tesco, setia alam
sunway pyramid, petaling Jaya 

Perak
Fajar, teluk intan
Jalan Bandar timah, ipoh
Jalan idris, kampar
Jusco, kinta city shopping centre, ipoh
tesco, taiping

the group’s network
september 2008

21



sinGAPoRE
specialist TCM Centres
camden medical centre
paragon
paragon
(tcm centre for reproductive health)

TCM Clinics
ang mo kio
Bedok
Bukit Batok
greenridge
hougang
Jurong east
Jurong medical centre
plaza singapura
rivervale mall
Sembawang
south Bridge road
tampines
tiong Bahru
toa payoh
yishun

sessional Clinic
kk women’s and children’s 
    hospital, women pain centre

oTHERs

MALAYsiA
Kuala Lumpur
the Zun kitchenette
 - shaw parade
the Zun express 
 - the gardens, mid Valley city
 - aeon, Bukit tinggi shopping centre
 - sunway pyramid

Penang island
aeon seberang prai city shopping centre
chulia street
gurney plaza, persiaran gurney
Jusco, Queensbay mall
sunway carnival, Butterworth
sunshine square complex, Bayan lepas
tesco, Jelutung

Pahang
east coast mall, putra square
giant hypermarket, kuantan
Jalan air putih, kuantan

sarawak
everrise departmental store, kuching
Jalan tunku abdul rahman, kuching
sing kwong shopping mall, sibu 

sinGAPoRE
amk hub, ang mo kio
ang mo kio town centre
Bedok central, 
    new upper changi road 
Bugis Junction, Victoria street 
Bukit panjang plaza, Jelebu road 
causeway point, woodlands square
centrepoint, orchard road 
clifford centre, raffles place 
compass point, sengkang square
great world city,  
    kim seng promenade
hougang mall, hougang 
icon Village, gopeng street
imm, Jurong east street 21
Jurong east street 13
Jurong point, Jurong west central 2
lot 1, choa chu kang 
mount elizabeth medical centre 
paragon, orchard road
parkway parade, marine parade road 

plaza singapura, orchard road 
raffles city shopping centre, 
    north Bridge road (2 outlets)
south Bridge road 
square 2, sinaran drive 
sun plaza, sewbawang drive
suntec city mall, temasek Boulveard  
terminal 1, changi airport 
terminal 2, changi airport
terminal 3, changi airport 
tampines mall, tampines central 
tangs, orchard road 
the central, eu tong sen street 
tiong Bahru plaza, tiong Bahru road 
toa payoh central 
Vivo city, harbour Front walk 
west mall, Bukit Batok central link 
white sands, pasir ris central

TAiwAn
Taipei City
tianmu e. rd., shilin district 

Taipei County
Jhongshan rd., Banciao city

Hsinchu City
sida rd., east district

CLiniCs

MALAYsiA
TCM Clinics
Kuala Lumpur
shaw parade, changkat thambi dollah

negeri sembilan
seremban, Jalan dato’ Bandar tunggal

Pulau Pinang
lebuh chulia

the group’s network
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CoRPoRATE offiCE

EU YAn sAnG inTERnATionAL LTD
269a south Bridge road
singapore 058818
tel : (65) 6225 3211
fax : (65) 6225 8276
email : customersvc@euyansang.com

oUR sUBsiDiARiEs

AUsTRALiA
EU YAn sAnG AUsTRALiA PTY LTD
unit 22/37 nicholson street, 
Balmain east, nsw 2041, australia
tel  : (612) 8021 9882
fax  : (612) 9982 7116
email  : info@euyansang.com.au

CHinA
EU YAn sAnG TRADinG 
(GUAnGDonG) Co LTD
rm 1606, 16/F north tower
guangzhou world trade centre
371-375 huan shi dong road
guangzhou
people’s republic of china
tel/fax : (8620) 8760 1063

HonG KonG
EU YAn sAnG (HonG KonG) LTD
eu yan sang centre
10 wang lee street, yuen long 
industrial estate
yuen long, new territories
hong kong
tel  : (852) 2544 3268
fax  : (852) 2850 6785
email  : info@euyansang.com.hk

inDonEsiA
PT EYs VEnTUREs inDonEsiA
setiabudi atrium, 2nd Floor, suite 209a
Jl. h.r. rasuna said kav 62,
Jakarta 12920
indonesia
tel  : (6221) 520 7040
fax  : (6221) 520 7046

MACAU
EU YAn sAnG (MACAU) LTD
avenida de almeida ribeiro
no. 48, macau
people’s republic of china
tel  : (853) 2838 9370
fax  : (853) 2838 9371

MALAYsiA
EU YAn sAnG (1959) 
sDn BHD
no. l2-01 & l2-12, 2nd Floor, 
shaw parade
changkat thambi dollah
55100 kuala lumpur
malaysia
tel  : (603) 2116 8200
fax  : (603) 2116 8201
email  : info@euyansang.com.my

wEnG Li sDn BHD
4 persiaran 1/118c, Fasa 2,
desa tun razak industrial park cheras,
56000 kuala lumpur
malaysia
tel  : (603) 9173 1984 / 
   (603) 9173 1986
fax  : (603) 9173 1987
email  : info@wengli.com.my

eu yan sang group

sinGAPoRE
EU YAn sAnG inTEGRATiVE 
HEALTH PTE LTD
269a south Bridge road
singapore 058818
tel  : (65) 6225 3211
fax  : (65) 6227 4312
email  : healing@euyansang.com
website : www.ihealth.com.sg

EU YAn sAnG MARKETinG PTE LTD
269a south Bridge road
singapore 058818
tel  : (65) 6225 3211
fax  : (65) 6221 1861

EU YAn sAnG (sinGAPoRE) PTE LTD
151 lorong chuan, #05-05/06
new tech park, lobby e
singapore 556741
tel  : (65) 6749 8830
fax  : (65) 6749 8692
email  : info@euyansang.com

TAiwAn
EU YAn sAnG (TAiwAn) LTD
1F, no 67, tianmu east road
taipei city
taiwan
tel  : (8862) 2874 7593
fax  : (8862) 2874 1548

THAiLAnD
EU YAn sAnG (THAiLAnD) LTD
101/15 moo 2, saimai road
soi 38, khet saimai
Bangkok 1022d
thailand
tel  : (662) 996 4090
fax  : (662) 996 4094
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the group’s structure

eu yan sang (singapore) 
private limited

eys Ventures pte ltd

rwp Food services pte. ltd.

Vistern health sdn. Bhd

eu yan sang (properties) limited eu yan sang trading 
(guangdong) co. ltd

eu yan sang (macau) ltd

eu yan sang (export) limited

eu yan sang (china Ventures) limited

supreme Bottled Bird’s nest co. limited

top lot limited

eu yan sang medical services limited

pronature (hong kong) limited

inDonEsiA

sinGAPoRE

MALAYsiA

Eu Yan sang 
international Ltd

HonG KonG

AUsTRALiA

PRC

MACAU

THAiLAnD

UsA

eu realty (singapore) 
private limited

pt eys Ventures indonesia

eu yan sang (thailand) ltd

Botanical health resources inc.

eu yan sang (taiwan) co. ltd

eu yan sang marketing 
pte ltd

eu yan sang integrative 
health pte. ltd.

yin yang spa products 
pte ltd

red white & pure pte. ltd.

eys kanghong herbal 
pte ltd

igates Bioinnovation 
pte ltd

eu yan sang (1959) 
sendirian Berhad

weng li sdn. Bhd.

eu yan sang heritage 
sdn. Bhd.

eu yan sang integrative 
health sdn. Bhd.

eu yan sang (hong kong) 
limited

yourhealth carina 
pty limited

yourhealth camberwell 
pty limited

yourhealth edgecliff 
pty limited

yourhealth manly 
pty limited

yourhealth group pty ltd

eu yan sang australia pty ltd

100% 100%

1%
99%

79%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 100%

50%

51%

100% 75%

100% 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

100%

100%

* these subsidiaries have been placed under liquidation

** * *

*

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

79%

100% 100% 100% 100%

TAiwAn
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BoARD of DiRECToRs 

dr Jennifer gek choo Lee
non-executive chairman

richard yee ming Eu
group ceo

clifford yee Fong Eu
managing director

leslie kim loong Mah
executive director

malcolm man-chung Au
independent director

robert James yee sang Eu
non-executive director

ian wayne spence
independent director

dr david yee tat Eu
(alternate to Richard Eu)

laurence yee lye Eu
(alternate to Clifford Eu)

Billy wah yan Ma
(alternate to Robert Eu)

AUDiT CoMMiTTEE

ian wayne spence
chairman

dr Jennifer gek choo Lee

malcolm man-chung Au

sTRATEGiC DiRECTion
CoMMiTTEE

robert James yee sang Eu
chairman

dr Jennifer gek choo Lee

malcolm man-chung Au

noMinATinG CoMMiTTEE

ian wayne spence
chairman

dr Jennifer gek choo Lee

malcolm man-chung Au

CoMPEnsATion CoMMiTTEE

dr Jennifer gek choo Lee
chairman

ian wayne spence

robert James yee sang Eu

CoMPAnY sECRETARiEs

danny Heng, cpa

sebastian Tan, Fcca

sHARE REGisTRARs

Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory services Pte Ltd
3 church street
#08-01 samsung hub
singapore 049483
tel : (65) 6536 5355
fax : (65) 6536 1360

AUDiToRs

Ernst & Young LLP
one raffles Quay
north tower, level 18
singapore 048583
audit partner-in-charge:

daniel soh
appointment date:
(since financial year ended
30 June 2005)

REGisTERED offiCE

269a south Bridge road
singapore 058818
tel : (65) 6225 3211
fax : (65) 6225 8276 

PRinCiPAL BAnKERs

Bangkok Bank
public company limited
180 cecil street,
Bangkok Bank Building
singapore 069546

The Development Bank
of singapore Ltd
6 shenton way,
dBs Building, tower one
singapore 068809

Public Bank Berhad
Menara Public Bank
146 Jalan ampang,
50450 kuala lumpur
malaysia

Rabobank international
77 robinson road #09-00
sia Building
singapore 068896

standard Chartered Bank
13th Floor,
standard chartered tower
388 kwun tong road,
kwun tong
hong kong

United overseas Bank Limited
1 raffles place, ouB centre
singapore 048616

corporate data
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Corporate Governance

The Board of Eu Yan Sang International Limited (the “Board”) is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate 
governance to ensure greater transparency and to protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders. 

This report describes the corporate governance principles applied by the Company with specific reference to the Code of 
Corporate Governance (the “Code”). References to the principles of the Code are listed below:

PRINCIPLE 1: BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

The principal functions of the Board are:

to provide entrepreneurial leadership and approve the broad policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Company (1) 
and monitor the performance of the Management;
to ensure that necessary financial and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;(2) 
to oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, financial reporting and compliance;(3) 
to approve the appointment of directors to the Board and the appointment of key personnel;(4) 
to approve annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals;  (5) 
to assume responsibility for corporate governance; and(6) 
to set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are understood and (7) 
met.

Matters which are specifically referred to the Board for decision are those involving approval of accounts and results 
announcements, dividend payments or other returns to shareholders, corporate or financial restructuring and share issuance, 
material acquisitions and disposal of assets.

The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances 
require. The Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings by means of teleconference.  The attendance of the directors 
at meetings of the Board and Board committees, and the frequency of these meetings for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 
is disclosed as follows.
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ Attendance at Board & Committee Meetings

Name
Eu Yan Sang 

Board
Audit 

Committee
Compensation 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Strategic Direction 
Committee

No of 
Mtgs 
Held

No of 
Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 
Mtgs 
Held

No of 
Mtgs

Atten’d

No of 
Mtgs 
Held

No of 
Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 
Mtgs 
Held

No of 
Mtgs 

Atten’d

No of 
Mtgs 
Held

No of Mtgs 
Atten’d

Richard Yee Ming Eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -

Clifford Yee Fong Eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 4 4 4 4 3 3 1 1 7 6

Ian Wayne Spence 4 4 4 4 3 3 1 1 - -

Robert James Yee Sang Eu 4 4 - - 3 3 - - 7 7

Malcolm Man Chung Au 4 3 4 3 - - 1 1 7 7

Leslie Kim Loong Mah 4 4 - - - - - - - -

The Company provides facilities such as the conduct of internal courses for the directors to meet their training needs. The 
new directors are also given orientation on the Group’s businesses. The Company adopts a policy whereby directors are 
encouraged to request for further explanations, briefings or informal discussions on the Company’s operations or business with 
the Management.

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The Board currently has seven (7) directors, comprising three (3) independent directors, one (1) non-independent and non-
executive director and three (3) executive directors.  Information regarding each Board member is provided under the Board 
of Directors section.

The Board comprises directors who as a group provide core competencies such as accounting or finance, business or management 
experience, industry knowledge and strategic planning experience. To assist in the execution of its responsibilities and to 
comply with the requirements, the Board has established sub-committees: an Audit Committee, a Nominating Committee, a 
Strategic Direction Committee and a Compensation Committee, under which the Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee 
and the Performance Share Plan Committee function as a sub-committee.  These committees function within clearly defined 
terms of reference and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. The effectiveness of each committee is 
also constantly monitored.
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The Board’s structure, size and composition is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”). The NC is of the view 
that the current size of the Board is appropriate to facilitate effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope 
of the Group’s operations. As more than 1/3rd of the Board is independent, the NC is satisfied that the Board has substantial 
independent elements to ensure that objective judgment is exercised on corporate affairs.

PRINCIPLE 3: ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has a non-executive director serving as Chairman and an executive director serving as Group CEO. The Group 
CEO is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company’s business, while the 
Chairman bears responsibility for the workings of the Board. The Chairman and the Group CEO are not related, and the division 
of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Group CEO are clear.

The Chairman ensures that board meetings are held when necessary and sets the board agenda in consultation with the Group 
CEO. The Chairman reviews most board papers before they are submitted to the Board and ensures that all Board members are 
provided with complete, adequate and timely information. As a rule, board papers are sent to directors approximately seven 
days in advance for directors to be adequately prepared for the meetings.

The Group CEO, supported by the Chief Operating Officer (“COO”), executes decisions taken by the Board and is responsible 
for the day-to-day operations of the Company. The CEO presides over a Management Committee (“MC”) consisting of the 
executive directors, COO and Group General Managers. In setting the business direction of the Company, the MC convenes 
meetings as and when necessary to review the Group’s operational performance and evaluate new projects and investment 
opportunities. In line with good corporate governance principles, the Board had also set up a Strategic Direction Committee, 
comprising two (2) non-executive independent directors and one (1) non-executive non-independent director. The primary role 
of this committee is to assist the CEO in setting the direction of the Group’s business as it has gone beyond the region to join 
the league of global business.

PRINCIPLE 4: BOARD MEMBERSHIP
PRINCIPLE 5: BOARD PERFORMANCE

Nominating Committee

The members of the Nominating Committee (“NC”) are as follows:

Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)(1) 
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Independent)(2) 
Malcolm Man Chung Au (Independent)(3) 

Corporate Governance
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The Chairman is not, or is not directly associated with, a substantial shareholder.

The NC’s principal functions are:

to identify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members of the Board of (1) 
Directors; the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; members of the various Board committees, for the purpose of 
proposing such nominations to the Board for its approval;

to set criteria for identifying candidates and reviewing nominations for the appointments referred to in paragraph 1;(2) 

to determine annually the independence of the directors. If the NC determines that a director is independent, notwithstanding (3) 
that he has one or more of the relationships (as set forth in Guidance Note 2.1 of the Code), it will disclose in full the 
nature of the director’s relationship and bear responsibility for considering him independent;

to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria for the Board’s (4) 
approval; 

to decide whether a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his or her duties as a director of the Company (5) 
particularly when the director has multiple board representations;

to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director to the effectiveness (6) 
to the Board.

New directors are at present appointed by the Board, after the NC approves their appointment. Such new directors are required 
to submit themselves for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company pursuant to Article 92 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association. Article 109 of the Articles of Association require one third of the Board (other than the 
Managing Director) to retire by rotation at every AGM.

PRINCIPLE 6: ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, Management provides the Board with monthly financial 
reports and quarterly management reports. The directors have also been provided with email particulars and telephone numbers 
of the Company’s Group General Managers to facilitate access.

The Company Secretary attends all board meetings and is responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with the 
statutory requirements of the Companies Act. Together with the management staff, the Company Secretary is responsible for 
compliance with all other rules and regulations that are applicable to the Company.

Corporate Governance
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In the furtherance of their duties, the directors may seek independent advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

Changes to regulations and accounting standards are closely monitored by Management.  Directors are briefed either during 
Board meetings or by the Company Secretary of these changes especially where these changes have an important bearing on 
the Company’s or directors’ disclosure obligations.

PRINCIPLE 7: PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
PRINCIPLE 8: LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
PRINCIPLE 9: DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

The members of the Compensation Committee (“CC”) are as follows:

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Chairman) (Independent)(1) 
Ian Wayne Spence (Independent)(2) 
Robert James Yee Sang Eu (Non-Executive) (Non-Independent)(3) 

CC’s principal responsibilities are to review the annual remuneration package of the executive directors and fees for Board 
members. The review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, bonuses and 
benefits in kind based on the performance of the Group and the individual. The recommendations are submitted to the Board 
for endorsement. 

The review of the remuneration of each senior management staff of the Group is not conducted by the CC but reviewed by 
the Group’s human resources department, in consultation with the CEO and the senior management. The review takes into 
consideration the performance and the contributions of the staff to the Company and gives due regard to the financial and 
business performance of that company. The Group seeks to offer a competitive level of remuneration to attract, motivate and 
retain senior management of the required competency to run the Group successfully.

The Company adopts a remuneration policy that comprises a fixed as well as a variable component. The fixed component is 
in a form of base salary and benefits while the variable component is in a form of performance bonus and grant of shares and 
share options under the Company’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) and Performance Share Plan (“PSP”). 

A sub-committee under the purview of the CC administers the ESOS and PSP and comprises:
 

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee(1) 
Ian Wayne Spence(2) 
Robert James Yee Sang Eu (3) 
Richard Yee Ming Eu(4) 

Corporate Governance
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More details on the ESOS and PSP are provided in the Directors’ Report.

An executive director is paid a basic salary and a performance related bonus. Adjustments to the remuneration package of 
an executive director are subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the agreement, the 
Chairman is paid a flat fee and there is no performance-related element. Non-executive directors have no service contracts.  

(1)  Table shows breakdown of Directors’ Remuneration (in percentage terms)

Name of Directors
Remuneration 

Bands Salary Bonus
Directors Fee Other 

Benefits* Total
$ % % % % %

Richard Yee Ming Eu 500,000 to 799,999 83 14 - 3 100
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 250,000 to 499,999 81 13 - 6 100
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 250,000 to 499,999 72 11 - 17 100
Robert James Yee Sang Eu 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100
Ian Wayne Spence 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100
Malcolm Man Chung Au 0 to 249,999 - - 100 - 100

*  excluding share options which are disclosed in Directors’ Report

(2)  Table shows the range of gross remuneration received by executives of the Group

Number of executives of the Group in remuneration bands 2008
 
$250,000 to $499,999 4
$100,000 to $249,999 25   
Total 29

(3)  No employee of the Company and its subsidiaries was an immediate family member of a Director or the CEO of the 
Company and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.  

Corporate Governance
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PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY
PRINCIPLE 14: COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
PRINCIPLE 15: GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION

The Company holds briefings for the media and the analysts on its half-year and its full-year results. The results announcements 
are released through the SGXNET system and via news releases, and are also posted on the Company’s website. All material 
information relating to the Company is disseminated via SGXNET followed by a news release. All announcements, including 
the Annual Report, are available on the Group’s website at www.euyansang.com.

The Company has an investor relations team headed by the Chief Executive Officer and assisted by the Chief Financial Officer 
whose function is to communicate with investors and attend to their queries. Shareholders of the Company receive the annual 
report and notice of AGM. At AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to ask the Management questions regarding the 
Company and to air their views. 

PRINCIPLE 11: AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three (3) independent directors.  They are as follows:

Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)(1) 
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Independent)(2) 
Malcolm Man Chung Au (Independent)(3) 

During the year, the AC met with the Group’s external auditors and the internal auditors to review the audit plans and the 
reports of the external auditors and internal auditors. It had also evaluated the adequacy of the internal controls of the Company 
with the auditors and discussed their findings with the Management. The AC reviewed the quarterly (Q1, Q2 & Q3), half-year 
and full-year results announcements before their submission to the Board for approval.

The principal functions of the AC are:

to review the audit plans and findings of the external auditors;(1) 
to review the quarterly (Q1, Q2 & Q3), half-yearly and full year results announcement to ensure integrity of the financial (2) 
statements and announcements prior to submission to the Board for approval and release;
to evaluate the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Company by reviewing the written reports from the external (3) 
auditors;
to review the Company’s risk management processes;(4) 
to review related party transactions, if any; (5) 
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to review the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity of the external (6) 
auditors annually; and
to recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and approving the (7) 
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

To create an environment for open discussion on audit matters, the AC meets with the external and internal auditors, without 
the presence of Management, at least once a year.

Management has put in place a Whistle Blowing Policy, whereby employees of the group may, in confidence, raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure 
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action.

The AC has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors for FY2008 and is satisfied that such services 
would not affect the independence of the external auditors. Accordingly, it has recommended the re-appointment of Messrs 
Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The AC is authorized to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has been given full access to and cooperation 
from Management to enable the committee to fulfill its responsibilities effectively. The AC has full discretion to invite any 
director or any executive to attend its meetings. 

PRINCIPLE 12: INTERNAL CONTROLS
PRINCIPLE 13: INTERNAL AUDITS

The Company has outsourced its Internal Audit (“IA”) function. The scope of the internal audit is:

to review the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls;(1) 
to provide assurance that key business and operational risks are identified and managed;(2) 
to determine that internal controls are in place and functioning as intended; and(3) 
to evaluate that operations are conducted in an effective and efficient manner.(4) 

Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during the internal audit and the recommendations thereof 
are reported to the Chairman of the AC as part of the review of the Group’s internal control system. For non-compliance 
of administrative matters, the matter is reported to the CEO. The AC reviews the Internal Auditor’s reports. To ensure the 
effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function, the AC reviews the Internal Auditor’s scope of work on an annual 
basis. 
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Securities Transactions

The Company has issued a policy on securities dealing by officers of the Company and its subsidiaries (comprising directors and 
key personnel) in the form of a Code of Best Practices on Securities Dealings (the “Code”) to govern and regulate transactions 
relating to securities of the Company. The Code was based on the best practices on dealings in securities issued by the SGX-ST 
and has been circulated to all relevant parties.

Under the Code, officers are prohibited from dealing in securities of the Company on short term considerations and at least four 
(4) weeks before the announcements of the Company’s results till the day after the release of such announcements.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of any directors or controlling 
shareholders subsisting as at the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Directors 

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are :-

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Chairman) 
Richard Yee Ming Eu (Group CEO)
Clifford Yee Fong Eu (Managing Director)
Leslie Kim Loong Mah (Executive Director)
Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Ian Wayne Spence 
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 
Dr David Yee Tat Eu (alternate to Richard Yee Ming Eu)
Laurence Yee Lye Eu (alternate to Clifford Yee Fong Eu)
Billy Wah Yan Ma (alternate to Robert James Yee Sang Eu)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of the Directors’ 
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares and share 
options of the Company, (other than wholly owned subsidiaries) as stated below :-
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 Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director  At 1.7.2007 At 30.6.2008 At 1.7.2007 At 30.6.2008

The Company 
Ordinary shares  
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 125,000 125,000 –   –  
Richard Yee Ming Eu –   –   52,945,143 52,945,143
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 7,190,743 190,743 78,739,267 85,739,267
Robert James Yee Sang Eu –   –   26,463,535 26,263,535
Dr David Yee Tat Eu 11,523,806 11,523,806 –   –  
Laurence Yee Lye Eu 1,875,000 1,875,000 68,739,267 68,739,267
Billy Wah Yan Ma –   –   28,805,845 28,605,845
 
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares  
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 80,000 160,000 –   –  
Richard Yee Ming Eu 530,000 530,000 –   –  
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 475,000 475,000 –   –  
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 587,500 812,500 –   –  
Ian Wayne Spence 80,000 160,000 –   –  
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 80,000 160,000 –   –  
 
There were no changes in the interest of directors between the end of the financial year and 21 July 2008. 

Except as disclosed in this report, no Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in shares, share 
options or debentures of the Company, or any of the subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning of the financial year, or at 
the end of the financial year.  

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Clifford Yee Fong Eu and Laurence Yee Lye Eu are deemed to 
have interest in the subsidiaries of the Company.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has 
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with 
the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a Company in which the Director has a substantial 
financial interest.
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Employees Share Option Scheme

The Eu Yan Sang Employees Share Option Scheme (“EYS ESOS 2000”) was approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 3 July 2000. The EYS ESOS 2000 was granted to executive directors, executives, and other employees 
of the Group and associated companies.

Options had been granted under EYS ESOS 2000 (excluding lapsed options) in respect of a total of 7,021,000 shares, of which 
options to subscribe for 4,496,250 shares remain outstanding. No further options may be granted under EYS ESOS 2000 as it 
has lapsed on 30 June 2006.

Following the lapse of EYS ESOS 2000, the Company has implemented a share option scheme for executives, directors and 
other employees, in the form of the Eu Yan Sang Employee Share Option Scheme 2006 (“EYS ESOS 2006”), which was approved 
by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 27 October 2006.

Under the EYS ESOS 2006, the options will have exercise prices that set at Market Price, being a price equal to the average of 
the last dealt prices for the shares on the SGX-ST for the 5 consecutive market days immediately preceding the relevant date 
of grant for which there was trading in the shares on the SGX-ST and may be exercised after twelve (12) months from the date 
of grant.

The EYS ESOS 2006 is administered by a committee comprising Richard Yee Ming Eu, Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee, Ian Wayne 
Spence and Robert James Yee Sang Eu, all of whom are Directors of the Company. The committee has power to determine, inter 
alia, the persons to be granted options, the number of options to be granted, whether options granted continue to be valid in 
the event of cessation of employment or appointment of a selected person, the exercise price and any adjustments thereon and 
recommendations for modifications to the EYS ESOS 2006.

During the current financial year, the Company granted options to executive directors, executives and other employees of the 
Group to subscribe for 3,000,000 shares in the Company at an exercise price of $0.577 shares pursuant to EYS ESOS 2006.

As at 30 June 2008, options granted under EYS ESOS 2006 in respect of a total of 5,620,000 shares, of which options to 
subscribe for 5,620,000 shares remain outstanding.
 
Unissued shares under option

During the financial year, 56,250 shares under EYS ESOS 2000 were issued by virtue of an exercise of options to take up 
unissued shares of the Company.

No shares under EYS ESOS 2006 were issued as at the end of the financial year.
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At the end of the financial year, unissued shares of the Company under the options were as follows:

 Number of share Exercise
Date of grant options outstanding price per share Exercisable periods
  $ 
EYS ESOS 2000 
18.3.2002 –   0.224 18.3.2003 to 17.3.2012
31.3.2003 475,000 0.280 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
31.3.2003 356,250 0.212 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
15.12.2005 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 14.12.2015
 4,496,250 
EYS ESOS 2006 
13.11.2006 2,620,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 12.11.2016
13.12.2007 3,000,000 0.577 13.12.2008 to 12.12.2017
 5,620,000 

Total outstanding options 10,116,250 
 
The information on directors participating in the option schemes and employees who receive 5 percent or more of the total 
number of options available under the option schemes are as follows:

  Aggregate options Aggregate options
   granted since exercised since 
   commencement commencement 
 Aggregate options of the option of the option Aggregate options
 granted during  schemes to schemes to outstanding as at
Name the financial year 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 30 June 2008
 
EYS ESOS 2000 

Directors 
Richard Yee Ming Eu –   530,000 –   530,000
Clifford Yee Fong Eu –   475,000 –   475,000
Leslie Kim Loong Mah –   362,500 –   362,500
 
Employees 
KF Tan – 150,000 – 150,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong –   510,000 (310,000) 200,000
Eng Hock Lok –   450,000 (250,000) 200,000
Vincent Boon Pian Lim – 150,000 – 150,000
 –   2,627,500 (560,000) 2,067,500
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  Aggregate options Aggregate options
   granted since exercised since 
   commencement commencement 
 Aggregate options of the option of the option Aggregate options
 granted during  schemes to schemes to outstanding as at
Name the financial year 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 30 June 2008

EYS ESOS 2006 

Directors 
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 225,000 450,000 –   450,000
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
Ian Wayne Spence 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
 
Employees 
KF Tan 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Eng Hock Lok 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Vincent Boon Pian Lim 200,000 320,000 – 320,000
 1,265,000 2,390,000 –   2,390,000
 

The Performance Share Plan 

The Eu Yan Sang Performance Share Plan (“EYS PSP”) is established with the objective of providing the Company greater 
flexibility to align interests of employees, especially the key executives, with those of the shareholders. It is also intended that 
the EYS PSP complements EYS ESOS 2006 in its continuing efforts to reward, retain and motivate employees to achieve superior 
performance which create and enhance economic value for the shareholders. The EYS PSP was approved by the shareholders 
at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 25 October 2007. 

The EYS PSP is administered by a committee comprises Richard Yee Ming Eu, Dr. Jennifer Gek Choo Lee, Ian Wayne Spence 
and Robert James Yee Sang Eu, all of whom are Directors of the Company. Award given are released once the committee is 
satisfied that the prescribed performance target has been achieved. 

Shares awarded to a particular selected person will be determined by the Directors of the EYS PSP committee. In deciding on 
an award to be granted to a selected person, the EYS PSP committee will also consider the compensation and/or benefits to be 
given to the selected person under the EYS ESOS 2006 and such other share-based incentive scheme of the Company. 

During the current financial year, no shares were awarded pursuant to EYS PSP. 
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors.  The members of the Audit Committee at the date 
of this report are :

Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman)
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 
50, including the following:

•	 Reviews	the	audit	plans	of	the	internal	and	external	auditors	of	the	Company	and	review	the	internal	auditors’	evaluation	
of the adequacy of the Company’s;

•	 Reviews	the	quarterly	and	annual	financial	statements	and	the	auditors’	report	on	the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	
Company before their submission to the board of directors;

•	 Reviews	 effectiveness	 of	 the	Company’s	material	 internal	 controls,	 including	 financial,	 operational	 and	 compliance	
controls and risk management via reviews carried out by the internal auditors;

•	 Meets	with	 the	external	 auditors,	 other	 committees,	 and	management	 in	 separate	 executive	 sessions	 to	discuss	 any	
matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

•	 Reviews	legal	and	regulatory	matters	that	may	have	a	material	impact	on	the	financial	statements,	related	compliance	
policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

•	 Reviews	the	cost	effectiveness	and	the	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 Reviews	the	nature	and	extent	of	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors;

•	 Recommends	to	the	board	of	directors	the	external	auditors	to	be	nominated,	approves	the	compensation	of	the	external	
auditors, and reviews the scope and results of the audit;

•	 Reports	 actions	 and	minutes	 of	 the	AC	 to	 the	 board	 of	 directors	with	 such	 recommendations	 as	 the	AC	 considers	
appropriate; and

•	 Reviews	interested	person	transactions	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Singapore	Exchange	Securities	Trading	
Limited (“SGX-ST”)’s Listing Manual.
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The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that the nature and 
extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has also conducted a review of 
interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year with full attendance from all members. The AC has also met with internal and 
external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

Further details regarding the audit committee are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Director

Singapore
22 September 2008
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We, Richard Yee Ming Eu and Clifford Yee Fong Eu, being two of the Directors of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”), 
do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors :

(i)  the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity, and consolidated 
cash flow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2008 and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date, and 

(ii)  at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Director

Singapore
22 September 2008

Statement by Directors 



44

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 127, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company 
as at 30 June 2008, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the income statement and cash flow 
statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility 
includes devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to maintain 
accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd
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Opinion

In our opinion,

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2008 
and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year 
ended on that date; and 

(ii) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.  

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants 
Singapore 
22 September 2008

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd
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 Note 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
   (Restated)
 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
 
Revenue 3 208,504 181,204
Cost of sales  (103,941) (90,204)
Gross profit  104,563 91,000
Other operating income  2,473 5,340
Distribution and selling expenses  (63,743) (52,899)
Administrative expenses  (22,371) (17,350)
Other operating expenses  (4,817) (732)
Interest income 4 138 188 
Interest expense 5 (1,031) (806)
Profit before taxation 6 15,212 24,741
Tax expense 7 (4,993) (5,175)
Profit after taxation  10,219 19,566
 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 8 
Loss from discontinued operations 6 (5,295) (4,855)
Profit for the year  4,924 14,711
 
Attributable to : 
Equity holders of the Company  4,940 14,720
Minority interest  (16) (9)
  4,924 14,711
 
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 10 
- Basic - continuing operations  2.84 5.43
- Basic - discontinued operations  (1.47) (1.35)

- Diluted - continuing operations  2.83 5.42
- Diluted - discontinued operations  (1.47) (1.35)
 

Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Group Company
 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 62,183 60,496 417 549
Investments in subsidiaries 12 –   –   52,942 21,180
Amount due from subsidiaries 21 –   –   15,743 15,427
Investments in associates 13 –   –   15 15
Long term investments  14 –   3,900 –   –  
Investment properties 15 9,387 8,437 –   –  
Goodwill 16 26 27 –   –  
Intangible assets 17 –   –   –   –  
Deferred tax assets 28 20 –   –   –  
  71,616 72,860 69,117 37,171
Current assets 
Property held for sale 18 –   554 –   –  
Assets held for sale 8 500 –   –   – 
Inventories 19 48,565 38,931 –   –  
Trade and other receivables 20 20,778 20,157 483  307
Prepaid expenses  580 1,385 11 407
Amounts due from subsidiaries 21 –   –   4,769 32,889
Amounts due from associates 22 30 41 30 41
Fixed bank deposits 23 1,604 2,711 –   –  
Cash and bank balances 23 13,605 12,789 476 550
  85,662 76,568 5,769 34,194
Current liabilities 
Bank overdraft 25 451 41 –   –  
Trade and other payables 24 28,261 26,299 1,356 2,160
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 25 33,814 21,097 31,550 20,997
Amounts due to subsidiaries 21 –   –   1,056 1,565
Hire purchase creditors 26 124 144 76 75
Tax payable  2,176 2,709 439 18
  64,826 50,290 34,477 24,815
Net current assets/(liabilities)  20,836 26,278 (28,708) 9,379

Balance Sheets 
as at 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Group Company
 Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 25 –   4,000 –   4,000
Long term loans from minority shareholders 
   of subsidiaries 27 124 59 –   –  
Hire purchase creditors 26 324 415 215 291
Deferred tax liabilities 29 4,073 3,361 18 18
Provision for long service payments  74 82 –   –  
  (4,595) (7,917) (233) (4,309)
  87,857 91,221 40,176 42,241
 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 
Share capital 30 34,931 34,919 34,931 34,919
Reserves 31 52,808 56,156 5,245 7,322
  87,739 91,075 40,176 42,241
Minority interest  118 146 –   –  
Total equity  87,857 91,221 40,176 42,241

Balance Sheets 
as at 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company
     Foreign
  Asset  Share currency 
Group Share  revaluation Capital options translation Revenue  Minority Total
 capital  reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total interests equity
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
At 1 July 2007 34,919 8,221 453 281 (6,354) 53,555 91,075 146 91,221
Revaluation surplus –   3,858 –   –   –   –   3,858 –   3,858
Release upon disposal of building –   (210) –   –   –   255 45 –   45
Release upon liquidation of 
   subsidiaries –   –   –   –   1,053 –   1,053 –   1,053
Effect of exchange differences –   –   –   –   (6,246) –   (6,246) (12) (6,258)
Net income/(expenses) recognised 
   directly in equity –   3,648 –   –   (5,193) 255 (1,290) (12) (1,302)
Profit for the year –   –   –   –   –   4,940 4,940 (16) 4,924
Total recognised income/(expense) 
   for the year –   3,648 –   –   (5,193) 5,195 3,650 (28) 3,622
Shares issued pursuant to the 
   exercise of share options 12 –   –   –   –   –   12 –   12
Grant of share options to employees –   –   –   210 –   –   210 –   210
Dividends, net (Note 9) –   –   –   –   –   (7,208) (7,208) –   (7,208)
At 30 June 2008 34,931 11,869 453 491 (11,547) 51,542 87,739 118 87,857

At 1 July 2006 34,872 7,258 453 99 (4,447) 40,953 79,188 –   79,188
Effect of adopting FRS 40 –   (3,375) –   –   –   3,375 –   –   –  
Revaluation surplus –   5,745 –   –   –   –   5,745 –   5,745
Release upon disposal of building –   (1,407) –   –   –   1,713 306 –   306
Effect of exchange differences –   –   –   –   (1,907) –   (1,907) –   (1,907)
Net income/(expenses) recognised
   directly in equity –   963 –   –   (1,907) 5,088 4,144 –   4,144
Profit for the year –   –   –   –   –   14,720 14,720 (9) 14,711
Total recognised income/(expense)
   for the year –   963 –   –   (1,907) 19,808 18,864 (9) 18,855
Shares issued pursuant to the
   exercise of share options 47 –   –   (4) –   –   43 –   43
Grant of share options to employees –   –   –   186 –   –   186 –   186
Dividends, net (Note 9) –   –   –   –   –   (7,206) (7,206) –   (7,206)
Contribution from minority 
   shareholder of subsidiaries –   –   –   –   –   –   –   155 155
At 30 June 2007 34,919 8,221 453 281 (6,354) 53,555 91,075 146 91,221

Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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   Share
  Share  option Revenue
 Note capital reserve reserve Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company 
At 1 July 2007  34,919 281 7,041 42,241
Profit for the year, represent total recognised 
   income for the year  –    –    4,921 4,921
Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of share options  12 –    –    12
Grant of share options to employees  –    210 –    210
Dividends, net 9 –    –    (7,208) (7,208)
At 30 June 2008  34,931 491 4,754 40,176
 
At 1 July 2006  34,872 99 13,163 48,134
Profit for the year, represent total recognised
   income for the year  –    –    1,084 1,084
Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of share options  47 (4) –    43
Grant of share options to employees  –    186 –    186
Dividends, net 9 –    –    (7,206) (7,206)
At 30 June 2007  34,919 281 7,041 42,241
 
 

Statements of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Note 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
   (Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities : 
Operating profit before taxation and minority interest 
- from continued operations  15,212 24,741
- from discontinued operations  (5,888) (5,770)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7,115 5,409
Depreciation of investment properties  –   18
Loss /(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  7 (1,426)
Gain on disposal of Elixir Business  –   (1,406)
Gain on disposal of investment properties  (226) (318)
Gain on disposal of property available for sale  (15) –  
Impairment of long term investments  3,898 –  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  2,428 –  
Property, plant and equipment written off  895 101
Gain on disposal of interest in subsidiary  –   (15)
Foreign currency translation realignment  (2,520) (1,078)
Impairment of goodwill  –   624
Loss on liquidation of YourHealth Group and subsidiaries  549 –  
Fair value gain on revaluation of investment properties  (1,833) (1,760)
Inventory written off  341 102
Allowance for inventory obsolescence  1,078 321
Writeback of allowance for inventory obsolescence  (140) –  
Long term investment written off   2 –  
Bad debts written off  2 –  
Interest expense  1,031 1,034
Interest income  (138) (191)
Share-based payments  210 186
Operating income before reinvestment in working capital  22,008 20,572
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  193 (5,287)
Increase in inventories  (10,913) (6,437)
Increase in trade and other payables  967 7,470
Cash generated from operations  12,255 16,318
Interest received  138 191
Interest paid  (1,031) (1,034)
Income taxes paid  (4,104) (4,812)
Net cash provided by operating activities  7,258 10,663

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Note 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
   (Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities : 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note A)  (11,114) (15,598)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  73 3,995
Proceeds from sale of investment properties  1,038 3,467
Proceeds from sale of property available for sale  569 –  
Acquisition of intangible assets  –   (27)
Net cash used in investing activities  (9,434) (8,163)

Cash flows from financing activities : 
Proceeds from short-term loans  20,924 6,267
Repayment of bank loan  (12,207) (2,533)
Payment of hire purchase creditors  (111) (360)
Repayment of long term loan from minority shareholders of 
 subsidiaries  (55) (170)
Proceeds from share options exercised   12 43
Proceeds from loan from minority shareholders of subsidiaries  120 198
Dividends paid  (7,208) (7,206)
Net cash used in financing activities  1,475 (3,761)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (701) (1,261)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  15,459 16,720
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 23 14,758 15,459

A. Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Aggregate cost of property, plant & equipment acquired (Note 11)  12,089 15,598
Less : 
Other payables  (975) –  
Cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment  11,114 15,598

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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1. Corporate information

 Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (the “Company”) is a public limited company which is incorporated in Singapore.  The 
Company’s registration number is 199302179H.  The registered office and principal place of business of Eu Yan Sang 
International Ltd is located at 269A South Bridge Road, Singapore 058818.

 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of management services to its 
subsidiaries.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries and associates are shown in Notes 12 and 13 to the financial 
statement respectively.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for land and buildings and investment 
properties that have been measured at their fair values.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($)/SGD and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
($’000) except when otherwise indicated. 

 The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are consistent with those 
used in the previous financial year.

 In the current financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted all of the new and revised FRS and Interpretations 
of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

 The adoption of these new/revised FRS and INT FRS does not result in changes to the Group’s and Company’s accounting 
policies and has no material effect on the accounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed below and 
in the notes to the financial statements.

 The Group has adopted FRS 107, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Amendment to FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of 
Financial Statements (Capital Disclosures) which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

 FRS 107 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure 
of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risk arising from financial instruments, including specified 
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including sensitivity analysis to market risk. It 
replaces the disclosure requirements in FRS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation. The amendment to 
FRS 1 (revised) introduces new disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages capital.

 The adoption of FRS 107 and the Amendment to FRS 1 (revised) are assessed to have no material financial impact on the 
financial results and the financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company for the year ended 30 
June 2008.

2.2 Future changes in accounting policies

 The Group has not adopted the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet effective:

  Effective for 
  annual periods 
Reference Description beginning on or after
 
FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating  1 January 2008
 to capital disclosures 
FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation 1 January 2009
FRS 23 Amendment to FRS 23, Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
FRS 108 Operating Segments   1 January 2009
INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements  1 January 2008
INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
INT FRS 114 FRS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding  1 January 2008
 Requirements and their Interaction 

 
 The directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact to the financial 

statements in the period of initial application, except for FRS 1 and FRS 108 as indicated below.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Future changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation

 The revised FRS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements requires the separation of owner and non-owner changes in 
equity. The statement of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner 
changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive 
income: it presents all items of income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The 
Company is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements. The Company will apply the revised FRS 1 from 
annual period beginning 1 July 2009.

 FRS 108 Operating Segments

 FRS 108 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief 
operating decision maker. The impact of this standard on the other segment disclosures is still to be determined. As this 
is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact on the financial position or financial performance of the Group when 
implemented in 2009.

 INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes

 The interpretation addresses accounting for loyalty award credits granted to customers who buy other goods or services, 
and the accounting for the entity’s obligations to provide free or discounted goods or services to customers when the 
award credits are redeemed.

 Loyalty awards should be viewed as separately identifiable goods or services for which customers are implicitly paying 
and measured based on the allocated proceeds which represent the value of the award credits.  The proceeds allocated 
to the award credits are deferred until the entity fulfils its obligations by supplying the fee or discounted goods or services 
upon the redemption of the award credits.

 As the Group currently has no customer loyalty award credits, INT FRS 113 are not applicable to the Group and therefore 
are unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.



56

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. 

(a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements:

 Income taxes

 The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions.  Significant judgement is involved in determining 
the Group-wide provision for income taxes.  There are certain transactions and computations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities 
for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.  The carrying amount 
of the Group’s tax payables, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at 30 June 2008 was $2,176,000 (2007: 
$2,709,000), $20,000 (2007: $Nil) and $4,073,000 (2007: $3,361,000) respectively.

 Operating lease commitments – As lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has 
determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased 
out on operating leases. 

 Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

 The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in 
making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. 
Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets 
held by the Group. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont’d)

 Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is 
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could 
be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions separately. 
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion 
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

 Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that 
a property does not qualify as investment property.

 Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

 The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale financial assets. Management exercises judgement based 
on the observable data relating to the possible events that may have caused the decline in value to determine 
whether the decline in value is an impairment that should be recognised in the income statement. For the financial 
year ended 30 June 2008, the amount of impairment loss recognised for available-for-sale financial assets was 
$3,898,000 (2007: $Nil). 

 
(b) Key source of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  Management 
estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be 3 - 50 years.  The carrying amount of the 
Group’s property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2008 was $62,183,000 (2007 : $60,496,000).  Changes in the 
expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual 
values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(b) Key source of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting 
data. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist.  Other non-financial 
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

 When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from 
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows.  Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of goodwill, are 
given in Note 16 to the financial statements. 

 Impairment of loans and receivables
 
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 

impaired.  To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors such as 
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in 
payments.

 
 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based 

on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics.  The carrying amount of the Group’s 
loans and receivable at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

 Fair value of employee share options

 The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
employee share options at the date at which they are granted. Judgement is required in determining the most 
appropriate valuation model for the share options granted, depending on the terms and conditions of the grant. 
Management is also required to use judgement in determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model 
including expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield. The assumptions and model used are disclosed 
in Note 32 to the financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  The Group generally has such power when it directly or indirectly, 
holds more than 50% of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the 
composition of the Board of Directors.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

(b) Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as 
at the balance sheet date.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date 
as the parent Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

 All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

 
 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 

control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method.  The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

 Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. The goodwill is accounted for in accordance with 
the accounting policy for goodwill stated in Note 2.15.

 Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of business combination is recognised in the income statement on the date of acquisition.
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30 June 2008

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(c) Transactions with minority interests

 Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated balance 
sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.  Transactions with minority interests are accounted for using 
the entity concept method, whereby, transactions with minority interests are accounted for as transactions with 
equity holders.  On acquisition of minority interests, the difference between the consideration and book value 
of share of the net assets acquired is reflected as being a transaction between owners and recognised directly in 
equity.  Gain or loss on disposal to minority interests is recognised directly in equity.

2.5 Associates

 An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has significant influence. This generally coincides 
with the Group having 20% or more of the voting power, or has representation on the board of directors.

 
 The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity method, the 

investment in associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net 
assets of the associate. The Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement.  Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its 
share of such changes. After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate. The associate is equity 
accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant 
influence over the associate.

 
 Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
 
 Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included 
as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment 
is acquired.

 When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other 
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the associate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5 Associates (cont’d)

 The most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in applying the equity 
method.  Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not co-terminous with those of the Group, the 
share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and un-audited management financial 
statements to the end of the accounting period. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

2.6 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Functional currency

 The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company 
and the Group operates i.e. functional currency, to be SGD. Sales prices and major costs of providing goods and 
services including major operating expenses are primarily influenced by fluctuations in the respective functional 
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currency of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance 
sheet date are recognised in the income statement.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6 Functional and foreign currency (cont’d)

(c) Foreign currency translation

 For the purpose of the presentation of financial statements, assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries’ are 
translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rate ruling at balance sheet date while share capital and reserves 
are translated at the historical rate of exchange.  Revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates 
for the year, which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of transactions.  All resultant exchange differences 
are taken directly to equity as foreign currency translation reserve.

 On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred in equity relating to 
that foreign operation is recognised in the income statement as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.

2.7 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a) Sale of goods/services

 Revenue from the sale of goods are recognised upon passage of title to the customer which generally coincides 
with their delivery and acceptance.  Revenue from medical and laboratory services are recognised upon the 
rendering of services.

(b) Rental income

 Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.  

(c) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility is in 
doubt.

(d) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

 Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed 
with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair value of the land and 
buildings at the balance sheet date. 

 Any revaluation surplus is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve in equity, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement, in which case the increase is 
recognised in the income statement. A revaluation deficit is recognised in income statement, except to the extent that it 
offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the asset revaluation reserve. 

 Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. The whole of the revaluation surplus included in the 
asset revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal of the 
asset.

 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on the straight 
line method to write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives.  The 
estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are as follows :

Freehold and leasehold buildings – 50 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment – 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles – 5 years
Renovations – 3 - 10 years
Plant and machineries – 10 years

 Assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not available 
for use.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the amount, method and 
period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use 
and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.  

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income 
statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.9 Investment properties

 Investment properties are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, investment properties are measured at 
fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the income 
statement in the year in which they arise. 

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on 
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement in the year of retirement or 
disposal. 

 Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change 
in use. For a transfer from owner occupied property to investment property, the property is accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment set out in Note 2.8 up to the date of change in use. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Property held for sale

 Property is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale and its sale must be highly probable.

 Property held for sale is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of continuing operations are 
recognised in the income statement through the ‘Administrative expenses’ line item.

 Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except for assets that are previously revalued where the 
revaluation was taken to equity. In this case the impairment is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any previous 
revaluation. 

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss be 
recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Financial assets

 Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument.

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at 
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired.  On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the 
income statement.

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date that 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace 
concerned.

(a) Loans and receivables

 Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables.  Such assets are initially recognised at fair values, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses.  Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans 
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

 The Group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

•	 cash	and	bank	balances,	fixed	bank	deposits;	and
•	 trade	and	other	receivables,	including	due	from	subsidiaries	and	associate

 They are included in current assets, except those with maturities later than 12 months after the balance sheet date 
which are classified as non-current assets.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Financial assets (cont’d)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale 
or are not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets.  After initial recognition, available-for-sale 
financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised in the fair value adjustment 
reserve until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the income statement.

 The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to the relevant Exchange’s quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  For 
investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.

 Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment losses.

 
2.13  Long term investments

 Long term investments are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.  The accounting policy for the financial asset 
is stated in Note 2.12.

2.14 Intangible assets

 Patents and trademarks

 Costs relating to patents and trademarks, which are acquired, are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years. They are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
patents and/ or trademarks may be impaired.

 The amortisation period and method are reviewed at each financial year-end.  The amortised expense is recognised in 
the income statement through the “Administrative expenses” line item.

 Research costs

 Research costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.15 Goodwill

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill 
is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination.

 A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the 
unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in 
the income statement. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated at the balance 
sheet date.

2.16 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost comprises direct materials on a first-in-first-
out basis and includes freight and handling charges.  In the case of finished products, costs includes direct labour and 
attributable production overheads based on a normal level of activity.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
less estimated costs necessary to make the sale and after making allowance for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving 
items.
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2.17 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.  Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are 
being incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use.  If the resulting carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.

2.18 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

 Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for derivatives, which are measured at fair value.

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. For financial liabilities 
other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised or 
impaired, and through the amortisation process.  Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are 
recognised in the income statement.  Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

2.19 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

 On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of (a) the consideration 
received and (b) any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income 
statement.
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2.20 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  If it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.  If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.21 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or Group 
of financial assets is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments 
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. The amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. 
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the 
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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2.21 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(b) Assets carried at cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried 
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and 
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

 
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of 
any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised 
in the income statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement. Reversals of impairment loss in 
respect of equity instruments are not recognised in the income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on 
debt instruments are reversed through the income statement, if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.

2.22 Employee benefits 

(i) Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for 
the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to balance sheet date.

(ii) Defined contribution plan

 As required by law, the Group’s companies in Singapore and certain overseas subsidiaries make contributions to 
the state pension funds of the respective countries.  Such contributions are recognised as compensation expenses 
in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contribution.
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2.22 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(iii) Employment Ordinance long service payments

 Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to the Group in 
order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the 
termination of their employment.  The Group is liable to make such payments in the event that such a termination 
of employment meets the circumstances specified in the Employment Ordinance.

 A provision is recognised in respect of the probable future long service payments expected to be made.  Provision 
is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by the employees from 
their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.

(iv) Employee share option plan

 The Company has in place an Employees Share Option Scheme for the granting of options to eligible employees 
to subscribe for shares in the Company.  

 Details of the Plan are disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements.

 Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services rendered.  
The cost of these equity-settled transactions  with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
options at the date on which the options are granted.  This cost is recognised in the income statement, with a 
corresponding increase in the employee share option reserve, over the vesting period.  The cumulative expense 
recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired 
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest.  The charge or credit to the 
income statement for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 
and end of that period.

 No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  The employee share option 
reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the share options. When the options are exercised, the 
employee share option reserve is transferred to share capital if new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the 
options are satisfied by the reissuance of treasury shares.
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2.23 Leases

(a) As Lessee

 Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at amounts equal, at the inception of the lease, to the fair value of 
the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  Finance charges are charged directly to the income 
statement.

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease 
term.

 Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased item, 
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis.

 
(b) As Lessor

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.

2.24 Taxation

(i) Current tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.24 Taxation (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax

 Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 Where	 the	deferred	 tax	 liability	arises	 from	the	 initial	 recognition	of	goodwill	or	of	an	asset	or	 liability	
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 In	 respect	 of	 taxable	 temporary	 differences	 associated	 with	 investments	 in	 subsidiaries,	 associated	
companies and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except:

•	 Where	the	deferred	income	tax	asset	relating	to	the	deductible	temporary	difference	arises	from	the	initial	
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 In	 respect	 of	 deductible	 temporary	 differences	 associated	 with	 investments	 in	 subsidiaries,	 associated	
companies and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

 
•		 The	carrying	amount	of	deferred	income	tax	assets	is	reviewed	at	each	balance	sheet	date	and	reduced	

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at 
each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.



75

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.24 Taxation (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax (cont’d)

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

 Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

(iii) Sales tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 Where	 the	 sales	 tax	 incurred	 on	 a	 purchase	 of	 assets	 or	 services	 is	 not	 recoverable	 from	 the	 taxation	
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 Receivables	and	payables	that	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	sales	tax	included.

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

2.25 Segment reporting

 A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services that 
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is a 
distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic 
environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other 
economic environments.
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2.26 Share capital and share issue expenses

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.27 Treasury shares

 When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity.  
Reacquired shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity.  No gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares.

2.28 Contingencies

 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the 
Group.

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.29 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These 
also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

2.30 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

 A component of the Group is classified as a discontinued operation when the criteria to be classified as held for sale have 
been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated major line of business or geographical area of operations or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.  A component is deemed to be held for sale if its carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

 Immediately before the initial classification of the asset (or disposal group) as held for sale, the carrying amounts of 
the asset (or all the assets and liabilities in the group) are measured in accordance with the applicable FRS.  Upon 
classification as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell.  Any differences are recognised in the income statement.
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3. Revenue

 Revenue for the Group represents sales of goods at invoiced value less returns and trade discounts, rental income, 
medical service income and laboratory service income.  

 Revenue is analysed as follows :
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
   (Restated)
 

Sales of goods 194,541 168,205
Medical centre income 13,683 12,633
Rental income 280 366
 208,504 181,204

4. Interest income
   Group
  Continuing  Discontinued
  operations operations Total
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest earned from fixed bank deposits 138 188 –   3 138 191

5. Interest expense

Interest on bank overdrafts 1 3 –   –   1 3
Interest on hire purchase 22 37 –   –   22 37
Interest on loans and borrowings 1,008 766 –   228 1,008 994
 1,031 806 –   228 1,031 1,034
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6. Profit before taxation/loss from discontinued oprations

 Profit before taxation and loss from discontinued operations are stated after charging/(crediting) :
   Group
  Continuing  Discontinued
  operations operations Total
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,643 4,706 472 703    7,115 5,409
Depreciation of investment properties –   18 –   –   –   18
Foreign exchange gains (169) (79) –   –   (169) (79)
Foreign exchange losses 965 182 –   –   965 182
Loss /(gain) on disposal of property, 
   plant and equipment 7 (1,426) –   –   7 (1,426)
Gain on disposal of Elixir Business –   (1,406) –   –   –   (1,406)
Gain on dilution of interest in a subsidiary –   (15) –   –   –   (15)
Impairment of goodwill –   624 –   –   –   624
Property, plant and equipment written off 895 44 –   57  895 101
Directors’ fee 169 154 –   –   169 154
Directors’ emoluments : 
- Directors of Company 1,274 1,424 –   –   1,274  1,424
- Other Directors of subsidiaries 720 894 –   –   720 894
Allowance for doubtful receivables 
- trade 1 17 –   –   1 17
Bad debts written off 2 –   –   –   2 –  
Inventory written off 341 102 –   –   341 102
Share-based payment expense 210 186 –   –   210 186
Gain on disposal of investment property (226) (318) –   –   (226) (318)
Gain on disposal of property held for sale (15) –   –   –   (15) –  
Write back of allowance for inventory 
   obsolescence (140) –   –   –   (140) –  
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 1,078 321 –   –   1,078 321
Fair value gain on investment properties (1,833) (1,760) –   –   (1,833) (1,760)
Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries –   –   548 –   549 –  
Impairment of long term investments 3,898 –   –   –   3,898 –  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment –   –   2,428 –   2,428 –  
Long term investment written off –   –   2 –   2 –  
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7. Tax expense

 The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 30 June are:

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Continuing operations
Current income tax 
   Current income taxation 2,885 4,097
   Under/ (over) provision in respect of previous years 460 (94)
Deferred taxation 
   Movement in temporary differences 1,648 1,172
 4,993 5,175
Discontinued operations 
Current income tax (593) (915)
 4,400 4,260

 A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Group’s effective tax rate applicable to profit before taxation was as 
follows :

Profit from continuing operations before taxation 15,212 24,741
Loss from discontinued operations before taxation  (5,888) (5,770)
Profit before taxation for the year 9,324 18,971

 
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits of entities in the Group in the 
   countries where the Group operates; 2,211 3,782
Adjustments: 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,979 2,667
Income not subject to taxation (925) (2,663)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 254 615
Utilisation of previous years’ tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances (185) (74)
Under/(over) provision in prior years 460 (94)
Others  (394) 27
 4,400 4,260

 
 The reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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7. Tax expense (cont’d)

 As at 30 June 2008, certain subsidiaries have unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately $2,295,000 (2007 
: $2,379,000) available for setting-off against future taxable profit subject to the regulations and agreements by the 
relevant tax authorities.  Deferred tax assets have not been recognised with regards to the tax losses as it is not probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow part or all the carry forward tax losses to be utilised.

 
8. Discontinued operations

 YourHealth Group Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries (“YourHealth Group”)

 On 18 January 2007, the Company announced that Yourhealth Group had been placed under voluntary administration 
in view of better return to the creditors. This exercise has been completed during the current financial year. Subsequently, 
YourHealth Group has been placed under liquidation.

 Red White and Pure Pte Ltd (“RWP”) and RWP Food Services Pte Ltd (“RWPFS”)

 The principal activities of RWP and RWPFS are that of retail of beauty products, provision of beauty services and retail 
of food and beverage. During the financial year, RWPFS transferred all its plants and equipment to RWP at a net book 
value, amounting to $297,960. Subsequently, on 8 May 2008, the Directors announced that RWP had, on that date, 
entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Sanctuary Spa Group Pte Ltd for the sale of entire business assets held 
by RWP for a sale consideration of $500,000. The Directors are of the unanimous view that the disposal represents 
good and timely opportunity. RWP and RWPFS have been incurring operating losses of $2,892,000 for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2007. The Directors believe that the future prospect of RWP and RWPFS are uncertain. The sale 
transaction is expected to be completed by October 2008. 

 Elixir Business

 The disposal in prior year was related to the disposal of the Elixir Business, which was reported in the other segment 
previously.  
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8. Discontinued operations (cont’d) 

 The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

 YourHealth  Red White and RWP Food
 Group Pure Pte Ltd Services Pte Ltd Elixir business Total
 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
Property, plant and equipment –    –    500 –    –    –    –    174 500 174
Inventories –    –    –    –    –    –    –    386 –    386
Patents, trademark etc –    –    –    –    –    –    –    256 –    256
Assets being disposed of –    –    –    –    –    –    –    816 –    816
Assets classified as held for sale –    –    500   –    –    –    –    –    500 –   
Carrying value of net asset 
   directly associated with the
   disposed Group –    –    –    –    –    –    –    816 –    816
Gain on disposal –    –    –    –    –    –    –    1,406 –    1,406
Total consideration, satisfied by 
   receipt of unquoted shares  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    2,222 –    2,222
Net cash inflow on disposal 
   of business –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
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8.  Discontinued operations (cont’d)
 
 The results attributable to the discontinued operations for the financial year are presented as below:

 YourHealth  Red White and RWP Food
 Group Pure Pte Ltd Services Pte Ltd Elixir business Total
 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
Revenue 2,522 9,557 41 450 163 253 –    1,851 2,726 12,111
Cost of sales  (1,740) (5,820) (15) (431) (113) (175) –    (545) (1,868) (6,971)
Gross profit  782 3,737 26 19 50 78 –    1,306 858 5,140
Other operating income  530 5 –    22 38 1 –    –    568 28
Distribution and selling 
   expenses (692) (3,764) (1,285) (1,506) (651) (806) –    (1,176)  (2,628) (7,252)
Administrative expenses (1,169) (1,095) (969) (1,400) (120) (218) –    (748) (2,258) (3,461)
Loss recognised on 
   re-measurement to fair 
   value less costs to sell  –    –    (2,428) –    –    –    –    –    (2,428) –   
Loss from operations (549) (1,117) (4,656) (2,865) (683) (945) –    (618) (5,888) (5,545)
Interest income –    –    –   3    –    –   –    – –    3
Finance costs –    (133) – –    –    –    –    (95)   – (228)
Loss from discontinued 
   operation before tax (549) (1,250) (4,656) (2,862) (683) (945) –    (713) (5,888) (5,770)
Taxation –    –    462 703 131 212 –    –    593 915
Loss for the year from 
   discontinued operations (549) (1,250) (4,194) (2,159) (552) (733) –    (713) (5,295) (4,855)
The cash flows attributable 
   are as follows :
Operating (549) (1,250) (2,097) (2,346) (635) (852) –    (716) (3,281) (5,164)
Investing –    –    (319) (3,404) (27) (349) –    –    (346) (3,753)
Financing –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
Net cash outflows (549) (1,250) (2,416) (5,750) (662) (1,201) –    (716) (3,627) (8,917)
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9. Dividends
 Group and Company
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Declared and paid during the year 
First and final dividend for 2007 of 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier 
   (2006 : 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,604 3,603
Special dividend for 2007 of 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier
   (2006 : 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,604 3,603
 7,208 7,206

 
 The Directors have proposed that a first and final dividend of 1.0 cent per share and a special dividend of 1.0 cent per 

share, to be paid for in respect of the current financial year. This dividend will be recorded as a liability on the balance 
sheets of the Group and of the Company upon approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting of the Company. 

10. Earnings/(loss) per share

(a) Continuing operations

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

 Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue, adjusted for the effect of dilutive share options during the financial year.

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 4,940 14,720
Add : Loss from discontinued operation attributable to ordinary equity 
   holders of the Company 5,295 4,855
Profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders 
   of the Company used in computation of basic earnings per share 10,235 19,575



84

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

10.  Earnings/(loss) per share (cont’d)
  ’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for computing of basic earnings per share 360,407 360,379
Effect of dilution - share options 653 1,196
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 361,060 361,575

 Cents Cents
 

Basic earnings per share
- continuing operations 2.84 5.43
- discontinued operations (1.47) (1.35)
 
Diluted earnings per share 
- continuing operations 2.83 5.41
- discontinued operations (1.47) (1.34)

(b) Discontinued operations

 The basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations are calculated by dividing the “loss from 
discontinued operation attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company” by the “weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for basic earnings and loss per share computation” and “weighted average number of ordinary shares 
adjusted for the effect of dilution” respectively.  These income statement and share data are presented above in caption 
(a) of this Note.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
   Long- Long- Furniture,    Cons-
   term term fittings    truction
 Freehold  Freehold leasehold leasehold and Motor Reno- Plant and in
 land  building land  building equipment vehicles vations machineries progress Total
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Cost and valuation 
At 1 July 2006 2,527 1,225 17,707 10,551 25,496 2,390 4,938 2,099 9,455 76,388
Additions –   –   –   –   7,536 230 4,676 184 2,972 15,598
Disposals –   –   (1,613) (807)  (2,756) (648) (165) –   –   (5,989)
Disposal of Elixir business –   –   –   –   (346) –   (518) –   –   (864)
Written off –   –   –   –   (296) –   (219) (286) –   (801)
Transfer to investment 
   properties (479) (181) (2,010)   (1,139)   –   –   –   –   –   (3,809)
Transfer to properties 
   available for sale –   –   (343) (211) –   –   –   –   –   (554)
Transfer –   –   –   12,047 –   –   –   –   (12,047) –  
Gain on valuation 271 59 1,712 3,703 –   –   –   –   –   5,745
Write back on revaluation – (45) (131) (130) –   –   –   –   –   (306)
Foreign currency 
   translation adjustment 7 46 236 323 (647) 21 114 42 (258) (116)

At 30 June 2007 and 
   1 July 2007 2,326 1,104 15,558 24,337 28,987 1,993 8,826 2,039 122 85,292
Additions –   –   586 18 6,508 218 4,323 436 –   12,089
Disposals –   –   –   –   (631) (184) –   –   –   (815)
Written off –   –   –   –   (1,958) –   (1,965) (48) –   (3,971)
Transfer –   –   –   –   (89) –   207 –   (118) –
Transfer to assets held 
   for sale –   –   –   –   (341) –   (274) –   –   (615)
Gain on valuation 56 34 2,473 1,704 –   –   –   –   –   4,267
Write back on revaluation –   (25) –   (354) –   –   –   –   –   (379)
Foreign currency 
   translation adjustment (126) (63) (237) (1,468) (1,936) (70) (1,002) (162) (4) (5,068)
At 30 June 2008 2,256 1,050 18,380 24,237 30,540 1,957 10,115 2,265 –   90,800
 
Representing - 
  Cost –   –   –   –   30,540 1,957 10,115 2,265 –   44,877
  Valuation 2,256 1,050 18,380 24,237 –   –   –   –   –   45,923
   2,256 1,050 18,380 24,237 30,540 1,957 10,115 2,265 – 90,800
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Long- Long- Furniture,    Cons-
   term term fittings    truction
 Freehold  Freehold leasehold leasehold and Motor Reno- Plant and in
 land  building land  building equipment vehicles vations machineries progress Total
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Accumulated depreciation 
   and impairment 
At 1 July 2006 –   20 –   35 18,883 1,075 2,980 1,698 –   24,691
Charge for the year –   24 254 150 3,403 352 1,175 51 –   5,409
Disposals –   –   (29) (15) (2,844) (432) (100) –   –   (3,420)
Disposal of Elixir business –   –   –   –   (285) –   (406) –   –   (691)
Written off –   –   –   –   (212) –   (207) (281) –   (700)
Write back on revaluation –   (45) (131)  (130) –   –   –   –   –   (306)
Foreign currency 
   translation adjustment –   1 (2) (6) (276) (2) 64 34 –   (187)

At 30 June 2007 and 
   1 July 2007 –   –   92 34 18,669 993 3,506 1,502 –   24,796
Charge for the year –   25 –   354 4,345 332 1,994 65 –   7,115
Disposals –   –   –   –   (575) (160) –   –   –   (735)
Written off –   –   –   –   (1,597) –   (1,431) (48) –   (3,076)
Transfer to assets held 
   for sales –   –   –   –   (63) –   (52) –   –   (115)
Impairment –   –   –   –   284 –   2,144 –   –   2,428
Write back on revaluation –   (25) 62 (354) –   –   –   –   –   (317)
Foreign currency 
   translation adjustment –   –   (9) –   (1,224) (34) (108) (104) –   (1,479)
At 30 June 2008 –   –   145 34 19,839 1,131 6,053 1,415 –   28,617

Net carrying value 
At 30 June 2008 2,256 1,050 18,235 24,203 10,701 826 4,062 850 –   62,183

At 30 June 2007 2,326 1,104 15,466 24,303 10,318 1,000 5,320 537 122 60,496
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Furniture, 
 fittings and  Motor
 equipment vehicles Renovations Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company 
Cost 
   At 1 July 2006 452 1,168 83 1,703
  Additions 59 –   –   59
   Disposal (14) (439) –   (453)
   At 30 June 2007 and 1 July 2007 497 729 83 1,309
   Additions 87 –   –   87
   Disposal (109) –   –   (109)
   At 30 June 2008 475 729 83 1,287
Accumulated depreciation 
  At 1 July 2006 338 439 39 816
   Charge for the year 58 178 8 244
   Disposal (9) (291) –   (300)
   At 30 June 2007 and 1 July 2007 387 326 47 760
   Charge for the year 62 146 8 216
   Disposal (106) –   –   (106)
   At 30 June 2008 343 472 55 870
Net carrying value 
   At 30 June 2008 132 257 28 417
   At 30 June 2007 110 403 36 549

 
(i) Revaluation of freehold, leasehold land and building 

 The Group and the Company have engaged CB Richard Ellis, W.M. Malik & Kamaruzaman and Prudential 
Surveyors International Ltd, independent professional valuers, to determine the fair value of its freehold, leasehold 
land and building. Fair value is determined by reference to open market values on an existing use basis. The date 
of the valuation was 30 June 2008. 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 If the revalued property, plant and equipment were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as 
follows: 

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Freehold land 1,362 1,362
Freehold buildings 475 492
Leasehold land  2,087 1,575
Leasehold buildings 15,594 15,989
 19,518 19,418

 
 The Group’s major properties are as follows :

   Land area
 Location Description (sq ft) Tenure
 
(a) No. 22 and 23, Jalan Dato Bandar,  Shop 13,263 Freehold
 Tunggal, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia 
 
(b) No. 1 SS2/67 SEA Park Petaling Jaya,  Shop/hostel 5,216 Freehold
 Selangor, Malaysia 
 
(c) No. 36 and 38 Leech Street, Shop/warehouse 5,880 Freehold
 Ipoh, Perak, Malaysia 
 
(d) No. 2 Jalan Othman Talib, Warehouse 4,140 Freehold
 No. 1 Lorong Iskandar
 Shah, Ipoh, Perak, Malaysia 
 
(e) No. 98 Jalan Idris Kampar, Perak, Malaysia Shop/warehouse 4,600 Freehold
 
(f) No. 156 Lebuh Chulia  Shop/warehouse 18,800 Freehold
 Georgetown, Pulau Pinang, Malaysia 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Land area
 Location Description (sq ft) Tenure

(g) Lot No. LG15, Lower Shop 778 Freehold
 Ground Floor, The Summit, Subang, Malaysia 
 
(h) 269 South Bridge Road, Singapore Shop/office 15,048 Lot 99871A – 999
    years from 
    1 October 1823 
    (814 years remaining); 
    Lot 99869K, 99868A
    & 99866P – 999 years
    from 1 October 1827
    (818 years remaining)
 
(i) 265A South Bridge Road, Singapore Shop/office 1,408 999 years from
    1 October 1823
    (814 years remaining)
 
(j) 273 & A South Bridge Road, Singapore Shop/office 5,207 999 years from
    1 October 1823
    (814 years remaining)
 
(k) No. 2 Persiaran 1/118C, Factory 7,200 99 years lease
 Desu Tun Razak Industrial   expiry 20.3.2085
  Park II, Cheras, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
 
(l) No. 4 Persiaran 1/118C, Factory 11,360 99 years lease
 Desu Tun Razak Industrial   expiry 20.3.2085
 Park II, Cheras, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
 
(m) Ground Floor, 192 Lai Chi Shop 617 75 years lease from
 Kok Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong   23.3.1923, renewed
    for a further 75 years
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Land area
 Location Description (sq ft) Tenure

(n) 10 Wang Lee Street, Office/factory/ 78,021 49 years lease from
 Yuen Long Industrial Park, laboratory/  1.12.1998 to
 New Territories, Hong Kong warehouse  30.6.2047
 
(o) 12 Wang Lee Street Office/factory/ 21,380 49 years lease from
 Yuen Long Industrial Park, laboratory/  1.12.1998 to
 New Territories, Hong Kong warehouse  30.6.2047

 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(ii) Net book value of property, plant and equipment 
    under hire purchase 455 538 257 403

12. Investments in subsidiaries
 Company
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Unquoted shares, at cost 24,865 24,865
Less : Impairment loss (3,685) (3,685)
 21,180 21,180
Amount due from subsidiaries (1) 31,762 –   
 52,942 21,180

 
(1) Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-trade in nature and relates to dividend receivable from the 

subsidiaries.  During the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the management redesignated the amounts due from 
subsidiaries as indirect capital contribution by the Company as part of the Group funding structure.  Accordingly, 
the amount is recorded at cost as the fair value could not be determined.
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12.  Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

 The subsidiaries at 30 June are :-
  Country of 
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place   equity held by
 Name of company of business Principal activities the Group
    2008 2007
    % %
 
#   Eu Yan Sang (Singapore)  Singapore Distribution and sale of traditional 100 100
 Private Limited  Chinese and other medicine 
 
*   Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Investment holdings, manufacturing,   100 100
 Limited   processing, distribution and sale of 
   traditional Chinese and other medicine 
   
** Eu Yan Sang (1959) Sendirian Malaysia Investment holdings, distribution and sale  100 100
 Berhad  of traditional Chinese and other medicine 
 
# Eu Realty (Singapore) Private Singapore Investment holdings, property investment  100 100
 Limited   and sale of traditional Chinese 
   and other medicine 
 
** Weng Li Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Commission agent in all kinds of  100 100
   pharmaceutical products and 
   manufacturer of medical pills 
   and capsules 
 
** Eu Yan Sang Heritage Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Property investment and sale of 100 100
   food and beverages
   
# Eu Yan Sang Marketing Pte Ltd Singapore Distribution and sale of traditional 100 100
    chinese and other medicine

* Eu Yan Sang Medical Services Hong Kong Dormant 100 100
   Limited
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12.  Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)
  Country of 
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place   equity held by
 Name of company of business Principal activities the Group
    2008 2007
    % %

++ Eu Yan Sang (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia Investment holdings, distribution and sale  100 100
   of traditional Chinese and other medicine

# Red White & Pure Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Distribution and sale of skin care  100 100
   products, provision of lifestyle clinic 
   and spa services 
 
** Eu Yan Sang Integrative  Malaysia Provision of integrative medical  100 100
 Health Sdn. Bhd.  services and property investment 
  
# Eu Yan Sang Integrative Singapore Provision of integrative medical 100 100
 Health Pte. Ltd.  services

# Yin Yang Spa Products Pte Ltd Singapore Development, manufacturing and  100 100
   distribution of spa products
 
# iGates BioInnovation Pte. Ltd. Singapore Developing iGates, on advanced  51 –
   technology to decipher chemical 
   components in traditional Chinese 
   medicine 
 
 Held by subsidiaries 
 
# EYS Ventures Pte Ltd Singapore Dormant 100 100
 
# RWP Food Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore Food & beverages 100 95
 
** Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Importation, distribution and  75 75
   sale of honey traditional 
   Chinese medicine products 
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12.  Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)
  Country of 
  incorporation   Percentage of
  and place   equity held by
 Name of company of business Principal activities the Group
    2008 2007
    % %

* Eu Yan Sang (China Ventures)  Hong Kong Investment holdings 100 100
 Limited

*  Top Lot Limited Hong Kong Dormant 100 100
    
* Eu Yan Sang (Properties) Limited Hong Kong Property investment 100 100
 
* Eu Yan Sang (Export) Limited The British Dormant 100 100
  Virgin Islands

* Supreme Bottled Bird’s Hong Kong Importation, manufacturing distribution 90 90
 Nests Co. Limited   and sale of bottled bird’s nests, 
   canned drinks and packaged foods 
 
* Eu Yan Sang Medical Services Hong Kong Dormant 100 –
 Limited

* Pronature (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Sale of health food and beverages 100 –
 
 Aroma Fresh Pty Ltd Australia Dormant – 51
 
^ YourHealth Group Pty Ltd Australia Investment holdings and provision  – 78.7
   of management services 
 
^ YourHealth Manly Pty Limited Australia Provision of integrative medical services – 78.7

^ YourHealth Edgecliff Pty Limited Australia Provision of integrative medical services – 78.7
 
^ YourHealth Carina Pty Limited Australia Provision of integrative medical services – 78.7
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12.  Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

  Country of 
  incor-poration   Percentage of
  and place   equity held by
 Name of company of business Principal activities the Group
    2008 2007
    % %
 
^ YourHealth Camberwell Pty Australia Provision of integrative medical services – 78.7
 Limited
 
++ Botanical Health Resources, United States Dormant 100 100
 Inc. of America  
 
+ Eu Yan Sang (Thailand) Limited Thailand Distribution and sale of  79.4 79.4
   traditional Chinese and other medicine  
 
++ Eu Yan Sang (Macau) Ltd. Macau Distribution and sale of traditional  100 100
   Chinese medicine and other medicine 
 
++ Eu Yan Sang Trading  People’s Republic Wholesale, import and export of 100 100
 (Guangdong) Co. Ltd of China tea leaves 
 
++ PT EYS Ventures Indonesia Indonesia Dormant 100 100
 
++ Eu Yan Sang (Taiwan) Co. Ltd Republic Distribution and sale of traditional  100 100
  of China Chinese and other medicine 

# Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore
* Audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong
** Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia
+ Audited by EX-CL Consulting Business Co., Ltd
++ Not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation
 The subsidiary has been strike off.
^ These subsidiaries have been placed under liquidation.
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13. Investments in associated companies
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
Unquoted shares, at cost 15 111 15 15
Share of post-acquisition losses of 
  associated companies –   (58) –   –  
Impairment loss (15) (51) –   –  
Currency alignment –   (2) –   –  
  –   –   15 15

The associated companies as at 30 June are :

  Country of 
  incor-poration   Percentage of
  and place   equity held by
 Name of company of business Principal activities the Group
    2008 2007
    % %
 Held by a subsidiary company
 
 Chengdu Hua Sheng He  People’s Republic Dormant – 50
 Enterprise Company of China 
 (liquidated)   
 
^ + Orion Corporate Health Pty Ltd  Australia Dormant – 39
 
# EYS KangHong Herbal Pte Ltd Singapore Dormant 50 50
 

# Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore
+ Not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation. 
^ These subsidiaries have been placed under liquidation.

 The Group has not recognised losses relating to share of losses in associates which exceeds the Group’s interest. The 
Group’s cumulative share of unrecognised losses at the balance sheet date was $11,000 (2007: $5,000), of which $6,000 
(2007: $5,000) was the share of the current year’s losses.  The Group has no obligation in respect of these losses.  
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13.  Investments in associated companies (cont’d)

 The summarised financial information of the associated companies are as follows :

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities : 
Current assets 13 45
Non-current assets –   1
Total assets 13 46

Current liabilities 35 47
Non-current liabilities –   3
Total liabilities 35 50

Results : 
Revenue –   –  
Loss for the year (13) (10) 

14. Long term investments
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Unquoted shares, at cost 8,200 8,200 4,300 4,300
Impairment loss (8,198) (4,300) (4,300) (4,300)
Written off  (2) –   –   –  
  –   3,900 –   –  
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15. Investment properties
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Balance at beginning of the year 8,437 6,035
Gains from fair value adjustments recognised in the : 
- income statement 1,833 1,760
- depreciation –   (18) 
Transfer from owner occupied properties –   3,809
Disposal  (812) (3,149)
Currency alignment (71) –  
Balance at end of the year 9,387 8,437

 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which had been determined based on valuation as at 30 June 2008 
performed by registered independent appraisers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent 
experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.  The valuations were arrived at by reference to 
market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

 As disclosed in Note 3, the property rental income earned by the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 from its 
investment properties, all of which are leased under operating leases, amounted to $229,000 (2007 : $366,000).  Direct 
operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising on the rental earning investment properties amounted to 
$146,000 (2007 : $142,000).  
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15. Investment properties (cont’d)

 The investment properties held by the Group as at 30 June are as follows:

Description Tenure of land Fair value
  2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 
265B&C South Bridge Road, Singapore 999 years lease from 1 October 1823 4,189 3,367
 (814 years remaining)

273B&C South Bridge Road, Singapore 999 years lease from 1 October 1823 4,713 3,702
 (814 years remaining)

Lot B1-36 Lower Ground Floor, Skudai  Freehold 157 166
Parade, Senai Expressway, Johor Bahru, 
Johor, Malaysia 
 
Lot No. LG-15, Lower Ground Floor, Freehold –   312
The Summit Shopping Complex, 
Jalan Kemajuan, USJ1, UEP Subang 
Jaya Selangor, Malaysia 
 
No. 12-J-G, 12-J-1 and 12-J-2, Freehold 328 348
Jalan Tun Dr Awang Bandar Bukit
Jambul, Penang, Malaysia 
 
Unit C 2nd Floor, Sunview Industrial  75 years lease from 1 January 1963 –   542
Building, No. 3 On Yip Street,  (30 years remaining)
Chai Wan, Hong Kong   
  9,387 8,437
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16. Goodwill
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 27 624
Goodwill arising from customer base transferred from Dual Network Sdn. Bhd., 
   an entity in which a subsidiary’s minority shareholder has an interest –    27
Impairment loss –    (624)
Currency realignment (1) –  
Balance at end of the year 26 27

 Goodwill arising from customer base transferred from Dual Network Sdn. Bhd. has been allocated to the cash-generating 
unit, namely Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd. for impairment testing.  The recoverable amount of goodwill arising from the 
business acquisition is determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by senior management covering a 5 years period.

 The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 6% (2007: 6%).  The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash 
flows is 6% (2007: 6%).  Management determined the budgeted growth rate based on past experience and its expectation 
for market development.  The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risk relating to the subsidiaries.

 

17. Intangible assets

 Intangible assets represent patents and trademarks stated at purchased cost less accumulated amortisation.

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

At cost : 
   Balance at beginning of the year –   329
   Disposal during the year –   (319)
   Currency realignment –   (10)
   Balance at end of the year –   –  
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17. Intangible assets (cont’d)
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Accumulated amortisation : 
   Balance at beginning of the year –   66
   Disposal during the year –   (63)
   Currency realignment –   (3)
   Balance at end of the year –   –  
Net carrying value at end of year –   –  

 
18. Property held for sale
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Transfer from property, plant and equipment –    554
 

19. Inventories
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

At cost : 
Raw materials 4,232 1,564
Work-in-progress 4,468 4,239
Packaging materials 225 243
Finished goods 26,973 14,910
 35,898 20,956
At net realisable value : 
Finished goods 12,667 17,975
Inventories stated at lower of cost and net realisable value 48,565 38,931

Finished goods are stated after deducting allowance for stock obsolescence of 1,426 488
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20. Trade and other receivables 
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Trade receivables 7,124 7,150 –    –   
Bills receivables 1,805 2,694 –    –   
Allowance for doubtful receivables (553) (599) –    –   
 8,376 9,245 –    –   

Other receivables 
Deposits 10,946 9,153 1 1
Tax recoverable 789 1,026 –    –   
Sundry receivables 668 734 482 306
 12,403 10,913 483 307
Allowance for doubtful receivables (1) (1) –    –   
 12,402 10,912 483 307
Trade and other receivables 20,778 20,157 483 307

 Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original 
invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.

 Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies :

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

 
Hong Kong Dollars 6,094 6,597
Malaysian Ringgit 1,560 1,771
Singapore Dollars 616 717
Australian Dollars 71 160
New Taiwan Dollars 35 –   
 8,376 9,245
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20. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Group has trade receivables amounting to $3,016,000 (2007: $3,472,000) that are past due at the balance sheet 
date but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as 
follows:

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Trade receivables past due: 
Less than 1 month 2,187 2,620
More than 1 month less than 3 months 639 440
More than 3 months 190 412
 3,016 3,472

 
 Receivables that are impaired

 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance accounts 
used to record the impairment are as follows:

Trade receivables – nominal amounts 553 599
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (553) (599)
 –    –   
 
Movement in allowance for doubtful receivables (trade) are as follows: 
At 1 July 599 581
Allowance for the year 1 17
Exchange differences (47) 1
At 30 June 553 599
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21. Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries
 Company
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Due from subsidiaries 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries 29,465 39,961
SGD loans to subsidiaries (unsecured) 
(i) Bears interest at 4.0% (2007: 4.0%) per annum and repayable over 4 years 
 commencing March 2006 –    240
(ii) Bears interest at 4.0% (2007: 4.0%) per annum and repayable over 4 years 
 commencing July 2006 –    1,290
(iii) Bears interest at 6% (2007: 4.0%) per annum and repayable over 4  years 
 commencing July 2006 –    2,724
(iv) Bears interest between 3.05% to 4.11% (2007 : 1.9% to 7.0%) per annum 
 and have no fixed terms of repayment 8,023 14,285
 37,488 58,500
Allowance for doubtful receivables (16,976) (10,184)
 20,512 48,316
Made up of:  
Current 4,769 32,889
Non-current 15,743 15,427
 20,512 48,316

 
 The amounts owing by subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.  The amounts are 

expected to be settled in cash.

 Due to subsidiaries

 The amounts owing to subsidiaries are unsecured, bear interest at 2.71% to 3.8% (2007: 3.05% to 4.69%) and are 
repayable on demand. 
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22. Amounts due from associates

 The amounts owing by associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.  The amounts are 
expected to be settled in cash.

23. Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following balance sheet 
amounts :

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Cash and bank balances 13,605 12,789
Bank overdrafts (note 25) (451) (41)
Fixed bank deposits 1,604 2,711
 14,758 15,459
 
Cash and short term deposits are denominated in the following currencies :

Hong Kong Dollars 8,207 8,847
Singapore Dollars 4,666 3,309
Malaysian Ringgit 1,955 2,280
Indonesian Rupiah 184 156
Australian Dollars 140 842
New Taiwan Dollars 53 47
Thai Baht 3 19
United States Dollars 1 –  
 15,209 15,500

 
 Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates of 0% to 5.32% (2007 : 0.25% to 3.75%) per annum.  Short-term deposits 

are made for varying periods of between one day and two months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.  The weighted average effective interest rate of short 
term deposits is 3.3% (2007 : 3.3%) per annum.
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24. Payables
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Trade payables 14,850 13,929 –    –   
 
Other payables 
Accrued expenses 6,165 7,263 616 1,291
Sundry provisions 4,232 3,324 711 785
Sundry payables 3,014 1,783 29 84
 13,411 12,370 1,356 2,160
 
Trade and other payables 28,261 26,299 1,356 2,160
 
Trade payables

Trade payables are denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars 6,324 4,767 –   –  
Singapore Dollars 5,583 5,938 –   –  
Malaysian Ringgit 2,943 1,719 –   –  
Australian Dollars –    1,505 –   –  
 14,850 13,929 –   –  
 
Other payables

Other payables are denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Singapore Dollars 6,402 5,288 –   –  
Malaysian Ringgit 3,738 2,000 –   –  
Hong Kong Dollars 3,158 3,434 –   –  
New Taiwan Dollars 111 –    –   –  
Australian Dollars 1 1,600 –   –  
Thai Baht 1 3 –   –  
United States Dollars –    45 –   –  
 13,411 12,370 –   –  
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25. Interest bearing loans and borrowings
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current: 
NTD Bank overdraft, unsecured (note 23) 451 –   –   –  
USD Bank overdraft, unsecured (note 23) –   41 –   –  
 451 41 –   –  
Floating rate loans, unsecured 
AUD bank loan –   1,097 –   1,097
SGD bank loans 33,150 20,000 31,550 19,900 
MYR bank loans 664 –   –   –  
 33,814 21,097 31,550 20,997

Non-current: 
SGD bank loan, unsecured –   4,000 –    4,000
Total 34,265 25,138 31,550 24,997

 
 The loans and borrowings bear interest between 1.72% to 12.09% (2007 : 3.05% to 9.8%) per annum, and are secured 

by corporate guarantee issued by the Company. 

 The interest rates of floating rate loans reprice at 0.75% to 4.75% (2007 : 0.75% to 4.75%) per annum over respective 
banks’ prime rates or cost of fund. The current borrowings of the Group and the Company have maturities of one to six 
months from the end of the financial year. 

26. Hire purchase creditors
  Present  Present
 Minimum value of Minimum value of
 payments payments payments payments
 2008 2008 2007 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group 
Within one year 143 124 164 144
After one year but not more than five years 376 324 490 415
Total minimum lease payments 519 448 654 559
Less : Amounts representing finance charges (71) –    (95) –  
Present value of minimum lease payments 448 448 559 559
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26.  Hire purchase creditors (cont’d) 
  Present  Present
 Minimum value of Minimum value of
 payments payments payments payments
 2008 2008 2007 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company
Within one year 89 76 89 75
After one year but not more than five years 258 215 347 291
Total minimum lease payments 347 291 436 366
Less : Amounts representing finance charges (56) –   (70) –  
Present value of minimum lease payments 291 291 366 366

 The average discount rate implicit in the Group’s and the Company’s hire purchases ranges from 2.2% to 6.1% (2007 : 
2.2% to 6.7%) and 2.2% to 3.5% (2007 : 2.2% to 3.5%) per annum respectively.

27. Long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries

 Long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are not expected to be repaid 
in the foreseeable future.

28. Deferred tax assets
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Balance at beginning of the year –   259 
Amount credit to asset revaluation reserves –   –  
Transfer from/(to) profit and loss 20 (259)
Balance at end of the year 20 –  
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29. Deferred tax liabilities
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Balance at beginning of the year  3,361 1,464 18 18
Provided during the year 1,110 2,019 –   –  
Transfer to profit and loss  (381) (1,189) –   –  
Amount credited to asset revaluation reserve 152 1,037 –   –  
Disposal of building (90) –   –   –  
Currency realignment (79) 30 –   –  
Balance at end of the year 4,073 3,361 18 18
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 

Differences in depreciation for tax purposes  1,565 1,814 18 18
Revaluations for fair value  
- investment properties  2,320 1,350 –   –  
- land and buildings 188 197 –   –  
 4,073 3,361 18 18

 
 There are no income tax consequences (2007: Nil) attached to the dividend to the shareholders proposed by the Company 

but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements. 

30. Share capital
 Group and Company
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000

Issued and fully paid : 
   At beginning of year 360,378,938 (2007 : 360,298,938) ordinary shares 34,919 34,872
   Issued during the year 56,250 (2007 : 80,000) ordinary shares  12 43
   Transfer from share option reserves –   4
   At end of year 360,435,188 (2007 : 360,378,938) ordinary shares  34,931 34,919

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restriction.
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31. Reserves
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Asset revaluation reserve 11,869 8,221 –   –  
Capital reserve 453 453 –   –  
Share option reserve 491 281 491 281
Foreign currency translation reserve (11,547) (6,354) –   –  
Revenue reserve 51,542 53,555 4,754 7,041
Total reserve 52,808 56,156 5,245 7,322

 

32. Employee benefits
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff cost (including executive directors) 
- salaries, bonuses and other costs 32,390 29,502 3,238 3,437
- Staff Provident Fund 2,365 1,869 188 130
- Share-based payment 210 186 71 67
 34,965 31,557 3,497 3,634
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32. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 Under the Eu Yan Sang Employees Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) the following options to subscribe for ordinary shares 
in the Company’s share capital, exercisable at any time during the dates indicated below, were outstanding as at 30 June 
2008 :
  Number  Number Number Number
  of of of of  Exercise
Date of  As at options options options options At price
grant 1.7.2007 granted expired lapsed exercised 30.6.2008 per share Exercisable period
       $ 
ESOS 2000 
31.3.2003 475,000 –   –   –   – 475,000 0.280 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
31.3.2003 412,500  –   –   –   (56,250) 356,250 0.212 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
15.12.2005 3,665,000 –   –   –   – 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 14.12.2015

ESOS2006 
13.11.2006 2,620,000   –   –   –   – 2,620,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 12.11.2016
13.12.2007 –     3,000,000 –   –   – 3,000,000 0.577 13.12.2008 to 12.12.2017
 7,172,500 3,000,000 –   –   (56,250) 10,116,250 

 
 Fair value of share options

 The fair value of services rendered in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share 
options granted under the ESOS.  The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a black-
scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted.  The following 
table states the inputs to the model used.  The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is 
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

 The weighted average fair value of options granted during the financial year was $0.08 (2007 : $0.07).

  13.12.2007 grant 13.11.2006 grant
 
Expected dividend yield  (%)  3.45 3.33 
Expected volatility (%) 19.90 18.60 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.50 2.02 
Expected life of options (years) 4 4 
Subscription price ($) 0.577 0.683 
Share price at date of grant ($) 0.61 0.65
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32. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The information on directors participating in the ESOS and employees who receive 5 percent or more of the total number 
of options available under the ESOS is as follows :

   Aggregate Aggregate
  options options
 Aggregate granted since exercised since Aggregate
 options granted  commencement commencement options
 during the  of the Scheme to of the Scheme to outstanding as at
Name financial year 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 30 June 2008

EYS ESOS 2000 
Directors 
Richard Yee Ming Eu –   530,000 –   530,000
Clifford Yee Fong Eu –   475,000 –   475,000
Leslie Kim Loong Mah –   362,500 –   362,500
 
Employees 
KF Tan – 150,000 – 150,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong –   510,000 (310,000) 200,000
Eng Hock Lok –   450,000 (250,000) 200,000
Vincent Boon Pian Lim –   150,000 –   150,000
 –   2,627,500 (560,000) 2,067,500

EYS ESOS 2006 
Directors 
Leslie Kim Loong Mah 225,000 450,000 –   450,000
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
Ian Wayne Spence 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
Malcolm Man-Chung Au 80,000 160,000 –   160,000
 
Employees 
KF Tan 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Alice Suet Ying Wong 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Eng Hock Lok 200,000 380,000 –   380,000
Vincent Boon Pian Lim 200,000 320,000 –   320,000
 1,265,000 2,390,000 –   2,390,000
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33. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

 The following are commitments for capital expenditure that have not been provided for in the financial statements :

 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Authorised and contracted for 180 –  
Authorised and not contracted for –   3,973

 
(b) Operating lease commitments – As lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio as disclosed in Note 15. 
These non-cancellation leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 5 years. 

 Future minimum lease payment receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:
 

Within one year 192 134
After one year but not more than 5 years 119 75
 311 209

 
(c) Operating lease commitments – As lessee

 The Group leases certain properties under non cancellable operating lease agreements. Most leases contain renewable 
options. Some of the leases contain clauses which provide for contingent rentals based on percentages of sales derived 
from assets held under operating leases. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning 
dividends, additional debt or further leasing.

 Rental expense for the Group was $23,010,000 (2007:$20,006,000) for the year. Included in rental expense was 
contingent rent of $2,700,000 (2007: $1,840,000). Future minimum lease rental under non-cancellable leases as of 30 
June are as follows:



113

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

33. Commitments (cont’d)

(c) Operating lease commitments – As lessee (cont’d)
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Within one year 18,300 18,043 –   –  
After one year but not more  than 5 years 20,463 24,530 –   –  
More than 5 years 45 –   –   –  
 38,808 42,573 –   –  

 
34. Related party transactions

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

 The Company and the Group have the following transactions with subsidiaries and related parties at rates and terms 
agreed between the parties :

 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividend income from subsidiary companies –   –   17,574 15,328
Interest received from subsidiary companies –   –   411 660
Management fee received from subsidiaries –   –   8,580 7,482
Rental paid to a subsidiary company –   –   200 181
Interest paid to subsidiary –   –   80 58
Loan from subsidiary –   –   3,236 4,050
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34. Related party transactions (cont’d)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
 Group
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Short-term employee benefits 4,386 3,616
Staff Provident Fund 170 93
Share-based payments 135 186
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 4,691 3,895

Comprise amounts paid to : 
•	Directors	of	the	Company	 1,274	 1,424
•	Other	key	management	personnel	 3,417	 2,471
 4,691 3,895

35. Contingent liabilities
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contingent liabilities not provided 
   in the financial statements : 
Corporate guarantees given to bankers for credit 
   facilities granted to subsidiaries –   –   24,594 14,467
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36. Loans and receivables
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current 
Due from subsidiaries –    –    15,743 15,427
 
Current 
Trade receivables 8,376 9,245 –    –   
Other receivables 12,402 10,912 483 307
Amounts due from subsidiaries –    –    4,769 32,889
Amount due from associates 30 41 30 41
Fixed bank deposits 1,604 2,711 –    –   
Cash and bank balances 13,605 12,789 476 550
Total loans and receivables 36,017 35,698 21,501 49,214

37. Financial liabilities, carried at amortised cost
 Group Company
   2008 2007 2008 2007
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current 
Bank overdraft 451 41 –    –   
Trade payables 14,850 13,929 –    –   
Other payables 13,411 12,370 1,356 2,160
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 33,814 21,097 31,550 20,997
Amounts due to subsidiaries –    –    1,056 1,565
Hire purchase creditors 124 144 76 75
 
Non-current 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings –    4,000 –    4,000
Long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries  124 59 –    –   
Hire purchase creditors 324 415 215 291
Provision for long service payments 74 82 –    –   
 63,172 52,137 34,253 29,088
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38. Segment reporting

 The Company’s operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of products and 
services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and services.  
TCM relates to manufacturing, processing and sales of traditional Chinese medicines, Clinics relates to the provision 
of traditional Chinese medical consultation, treatment and integrative medical services.  Others segment include the 
provision of rental of premises, sale of spa products and sale of food and beverages.

 The Group generally account for inter-segments sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at 
current market prices.

 
(a) Business segments

 The following tables present revenue and net income information for the Group’s industry segment for the years ended 
30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s industry segment as at 
30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 :
    Discontinued 
 Continuing operations   operations
       Total
 TCM Clinics Others Eliminations Total * operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2008 
Revenue 
Sales to external customers 194,049 13,683 772 –   208,504 2,726 211,230
Inter-segment sales 61,043 –   26,549 (87,592) –   –   –  
Total revenue  255,092 13,683 27,321 (87,592) 208,504 2,726 211,230
 
Results 
Operating profits 28,532 1,723 (4,896) (9,254) 16,105 (5,888) 10,217
Interest income     138 –   138
Interest expense     (1,031) –   (1,031)
Profit before taxation     15,212 (5,888) 9,324
Tax expense     (4,993) 593 (4,400)
Profit after taxation     10,219 (5,295) 4,924
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38. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)
    Discontinued 
 Continuing operations   operations
       Total
 TCM Clinics Others Eliminations Total * operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 122,516 3,612 29,957 –   156,085 1,173 157,258
Deferred tax assets 20 –   –   –   20 –   20
 122,536 3,612 29,957 –   156,105 1,173 157,278
Segment liabilities 30,458 2,858 35,692 –   69,008 413 69,421

Other segment information : 
Capital expenditure 9,466 615 978 –   11,059 55 11,114
Depreciation of property, 
   plant and equipment 5,620 700 323 –   6,643 472  7,115
 

 * Discontinued operation of its subsidiaries, YourHealth Group, Red White and Pure Pte Ltd and RWP Food Services Pte 
Ltd (Note 8). 
    Discontinued 
 Continuing operations   operations
       Total
 TCM Clinics Others Eliminations Total * operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2007 
Revenue 
Sales to external customers 168,205 12,633 366 –   181,204 12,111 193,315
Inter-segment sales 43,584 –   23,442 (67,026) –   –   –  
Total revenue  211,789 12,633 23,808 (67,026) 181,204 12,111 193,315

Results 
Operating profits 27,101 3,247 3,571 (8,560) 25,359 (5,545) 19,814
Interest income     188 3   191
Interest expense     (806) (228) (1,034)
Profit before taxation     24,741 (5,770) 18,971
Tax expense     (5,175) 915 (4,260)
Profit after taxation     19,566 (4,855) 14,711
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38. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)
    Discontinued 
 Continuing operations   operations
       Total
 TCM Clinics Others Eliminations Total ** operations
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 110,860 3,158 28,792 –   142,810 6,618 149,428
Segment liabilities 22,265 2,721 28,123 –   53,109 5,098 58,207
 
Other segment information : 
Capital expenditure 10,439 1,298 108 –   11,845 3,753 15,598
Depreciation of property, 
   plant and equipment 4,220 295 191 –   4,706 703   5,409
Depreciation of investment 
   properties –   –   18 –   18 –   18
Impairment of goodwill –   –   624   –   624 –  624

 
 ** Discontinued operations of its subsidiaries, YourHealth Group, Red White and Pure Pte Ltd, RWP Food Services Pte 

Ltd and Elixir business (Note 8). 
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38. Segment reporting (cont’d)

(b) Geographical segments

 The following table present revenue, capital expenditure and certain asset information regarding the group’s geographical 
segments for the years end 30 June 2008 and 2007.

 Singapore Malaysia Hong Kong Others Eliminations Total
 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Revenue: 
Sales to external 
   customers 60,286 54,305 52,948 41,675 95,015 85,927 2,981 11,408 –   –   211,230 193,315
Inter-segment sales 28,332 23,981 10,065 9,566 49,195 2,943 –   –   (87,592) (36,490) –   –  
Segment revenue 88,618 78,286 63,013 51,241 144,210 88,870 2,981 11,408 (87,592) (36,490) 211,230 193,315
Less: Sales 
   attributable to 
   discontinued 
   operation (204) (703)   –   –   –   –   (2,522) (11,408) –   –   (2,726) (12,111)
Revenue from 
   continuing 
   operations 88,414 77,583 63,013 51,241 144,210 88,870 459 –   (87,592) (36,490) 208,504 181,204
 
Other segment information: 

Segment assets 52,873 52,001 31,826 26,852 72,294 68,603 265 1,972 –   –   157,258  149,428
Deferred tax assets –   –   –   –   –   –   20 –   –   –   20 –  

Total assets  52,873 52,001 31,826 26,852 72,294 68,603 285 1,972 –   –   157,278 149,428
 
Segment liabilities 48,349 38,467 8,415 4,209 12,656 11,121 1 4,410 –   –   69,421 58,207
 
Other segment
   information: 
Capital expenditure : 
   property, plant
   and equipment 3,645 6,162 5,049 2,275 3,395 7,098 –   63 –   –   12,089 15,598
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group’s operations carry financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates.  The Group’s overall risk management approach is to minimise the effects of such volatility on its financial 
performance.

 Financial risk management policies are periodically reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors.

 Foreign currency risk

 The Group has transactional currency exposure, which arise from the sales or purchases by the Company and its 
subsidiaries in those currencies other than their functional currencies.  Besides, the Group is also exposed to translational 
risks arising from its foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.

 The Group manages its transactional exposure by matching, as far as possible, its receipts and payments in each 
individual currencies.  The Group does not use any foreign currency instruments to hedge foreign currency exposure on 
such purchases and sales.

 As further disclosed in Note 2.6 to the financial statements on foreign currencies, exchange differences on the Group’s 
net investment in foreign subsidiaries are dealt with through the foreign currency translation reserve. This currency 
translation risk is regularly monitored.

 The breakdown of foreign currencies risk by currency was disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when 
appropriate. 

 Interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk 
arises primarily from their interest-bearing loans and borrowings. Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks. 

 The Group and the Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings are contractually repriced at interval of 1 to 6 
months (2007: 1 to 6 months) from the date of balance sheet date. 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 The following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments 
that are exposed to interest rate risk:

 Within  1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 More than
 1 year years years years years 5 years Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2008 
Group 
Floating rate 
Cash assets 15,209 –   –   –   –   –   15,209
Bank overdraft 451 –   –   –   –   –   451
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  33,814 –   –   –   –   –   33,814

Company 
Floating rate 
Cash assets 476 –   –   –   –   –   476
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 31,550 –   –   –   –   –   31,550
Amounts due from subsidiaries –    –   –   –   –   8,023 8,023
Amounts due to subsidiary (non-trade) 1,056 –   –   –   –   –   1,056
 
2007 
Group 
Floating rate 
Cash assets 15,500 –   –   –   –   –   15,500
Bank overdraft 41 –   –   –   –   –   41
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  21,097 4,000 –   –   –   –   25,097

Company 
Fixed rate 
Amounts due from subsidiaries  2,147 1,063 1,044 –   –   –   4,254

Floating rate 
Cash assets 550 –   –   –   –   –   550
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  20,997 4,000 –   –   –   –   24,997
Amounts due from subsidiaries – –   –   –   –   14,285   14,285
Amounts due to subsidiary (non-trade) 1,565 –   –   –   –   –   1,565



122

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

 As at 30 June 2008, assuming that the market interest is 50 basic points higher or lower than the market interest rate and 
with no change to the other variables, the interest expense on borrowings would be higher or lower by $171,000 (2007: 
$126,000).  The change of 50 basic points used for both years approximated the range of interest rate movement during 
the financial years.

 This analysis assumes that other variables remain constant.

 Counterparty risk

 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that counterparties fail to perform their obligations as at 30 
June 2008 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets, other than derivatives, is the carrying amount of those 
assets as indicated in the balance sheet.

 The Group only transacts with creditworthy counterparties.  Surplus funds are placed with reputable financial institutions.  
Counterparty risks are managed by limiting aggregate exposure on all outstanding financial instruments to any individual 
counterparty, taking into account its credit rating.  Such counterparty exposures are regularly reviewed, and adjusted as 
necessary.  This mitigates the risk of material loss arising in the event of non-performance by counterparties.

 Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly affect the 
group of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total credit exposure.  
As the Group transacts with a diversity of counterparties in different countries, the Group does not have any significant 
exposure to any individual customers.

 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 
to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities.  The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

 The Group’s cash and short term deposits, operating cashflows, availability of banking facilities and debt maturity profile 
are actively managed to ensure adequate working capital requirement and that repayment and funding needs are met. 



123

Notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2008

39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at the balance 
sheet date based on contractual undiscounted payments.

 2008 2007
 1 year  1 to 5 Over 5  1 year  1 to 5 Over 5
 or less years years Total or less years years Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group 
Bank overdraft 451 –   –   451 41 –   –   41
Trade and other payables 28,261 –   –   28,261 26,299 –   –   26,299
Interest-bearing loans and 
   borrowings 33,814 –   –   33,814 21,097 4,000 –   25,097
Hire purchase creditors 143 376 –   519 164 490 –   654
 62,669 376 –   63,045 47,601 4,490 –   52,091
 
Company 
Trade and other payables 1,356 –   –   1,356 2,160 –   –   2,160
Interest-bearing loans and 
   borrowings 31,550 –   –   31,550  20,997 4,000 –   24,997
Due to subsidiary (non-trade) 1,056 –   –   1,056 1,565 –   –   1,565
Hire purchase creditors 89 258 –   347 89 347 –   436
 34,051 258 –   34,309 24,811 4,347 –   29,158

 
 Foreign currency risk

 The Group is exposed to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation, primarily in relation to the Hong 
Kong Dollars (“HKD”) and Malaysia Ringgit (“MYR”). Whenever possible, the Group seeks to maintain a natural hedge 
through matching of liabilities, including borrowings against assets in the name currencies or against the subsidiaries’ 
functional currencies, in particular in future revenue stream. Translation exposures and exposure to foreign currency risk 
is monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group endeavours to keep the net exposure at an acceptable level. 

 In relation to its overseas investment in foreign subsidiaries where net assets are exposed to currency translation risks 
and which are held for long term investment purposes, the difference arising from such translation are recorded under 
the foreign currency translation reserve. The translation differences are reviewed and monitored on a regular basis. 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the HKD and MYR against the S$, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit net of tax:

 Group
 Profit net of tax
   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

HKD 
- strengthened 5% (2007: 5%) 1,189 1,125
- weakened 5% (2007: 5%) (1,189) (1,125)
 
MYR 
- strengthened 5% (2007: 5%) (192) (6)
- weakened 5% (2007: 5%) 192 6

 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its 
obligations.  The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.  
For other financial assets (including investment securities, cash and cash equivalents and derivatives), the Group and the 
Company minimise credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties.

 The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit 
risk exposure.  The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.  It is the Group’s policy that 
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.  In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  
For transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group will perform a more stringent 
credit verification procedures before offering credit terms to the overseas customers. 
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Exposure to credit risk

 At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:

– the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets; and
– a nominal amount of S$24,594,000 (2007: $14,442,000) relating to a corporate guarantee provided by the 

Company to a bank on a subsidiary’s bank loan.

 As at 30 June 2008, there was no significant concentration of credit risk.

40. Fair value of financial instruments

 The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between 
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair value

 Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and short term deposits, current trade and other receivables, 
current trade and other payables, balances due from/to subsidiary/associate, based on their notional amounts, reasonably 
approximate their fair values because these are mostly short term in nature or are repriced frequently.

 Investment in equity instruments carried at cost

 Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in equity instruments that are carried at cost as 
fair value cannot be measured reliably. 
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41. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 
30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the sum of total capital and net debt. 
Net debt is calculated as interest-bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. 

   2008 2007
  $’000 $’000
 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 34,265 25,138
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (15,209) (15,500)
Net debt 19,056 9,638
 
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent/ Total Capital 87,739 91,075
Capital and net debt 106,795 100,713

Gearing ratio 18% 10%
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42. Comparatives

 Certain comparatives have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation. As disclosed in Note 8 to the 
financial statements, 

 Group
  Previously
 Restated reported
 2007 2007
 $’000 $’000

Consolidated income statement 
Revenue  181,204 191,464
Cost of sales (90,204) (96,630)
Other operating income  5,340 5,368
Distribution and selling expenses  (52,899) (58,975)
Administrative expenses (17,350) (20,063)
Interest income  188 191
Interest expense (806) (939)
Tax expense (5,175) (4,260)
Loss from discontinued operations (4,855) (713)

  

43. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

 The financial statements of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd and its Subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 
were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 22 September 2008.
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Class of equity securities Number of equity securities Voting Rights

Ordinary shares 360,435,188 One vote for each share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding Number of Shareholders % Number of Shares %

1 - 999 183 4.93 59,739 0.02
1,000 - 10,000 2,864 77.22 7,190,291 1.99
10,001 - 1,000,000 637 17.18 35,729,306 9.91
1,000,001 and above 25 0.67 317,455,852 88.08

3,709 100.00 360,435,188 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Euco Investments Pte Ltd (“Euco”) 20,711,767 5.75 48,027,500 (i) 13.32
Arisaig ASEAN Fund Limited, Arisaig Partners (BV) Limited (Fund 
Manager)

28,946,500 8.03 - -

Bestand Development Corporation (“Bestand”) - - 26,263,535 (ii) 7.29
Aberdeen Asset Management Plc (“AAM”) - - 25,066,500 (iii) 6.95
Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Ltd (“AAMA”) - - 25,066,500 (iv) 6.95
Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited (“AIFM”) - - 19,905,000 (v) 5.52
Clifford Yee Fong Eu 190,743 0.05 85,739,267 (vi) 23.79
Laurence Yee Lye Eu 1,875,000 0.52 68,739,267 (vii) 19.07
Richard Yee Ming Eu - - 52,945,143 (viii) 14.69
Billy Wah Yan Ma - - 28,605,845 (ix) 7.94
Robert James Yee Sang Eu - - 26,263,535 (x) 7.29

Notes:
(i) Euco’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominees.
(ii) Bestand’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominee.
(iii) AAM’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various nominee accounts).
(iv) AAMA’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various nominee accounts).
(v) AIFM’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various nominee accounts).
(vi) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Clifford Yee Fong Eu is deemed to be interested in all the 9,500,000 Shares held in trust by his nominees, 

68,739,267 Shares held by Euco (by itself or in trust by its nominees); 5,625,000 Shares of Perpetual Investments Ltd (held in trust by its nominee), 
1,875,000 Shares owned by his wife.

(vii) Laurence Yee Lye Eu is deemed interested in all the Shares held by Euco (by itself or in trust by its nominees) by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies 
Act.

Statistics of Shareholdings 
As at 17th September 2008
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(viii) The deemed interests of Richard Yee Ming Eu relates to Shares held in trust by his nominees. He is also deemed to be interested in 13,675,000 Shares 
owned by his wife (held in her name and in trust by her nominees).

(ix) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Billy Wah Yan Ma is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Bestand and 2,342,310 Shares held 
by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited.

(x) Robert James Yee Sang Eu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Bestand by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %

1. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 99,687,050 27.66
2. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 36,502,143 10.13
3. EUCO INVESTMENTS PTE LTD 27,872,267 7.73
4. HL BANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 25,550,000 7.09
5. UOB NOMINEES (2006) PTE LTD  17,700,070 4.91
6. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 17,303,486 4.80
7. CIMB BANK NOMINEES (S) SDN BHD 16,250,000 4.51
8. OVERSEA-CHINESE BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 14,142,000 3.92
9. LEONG KWEI CHUN 12,574,955 3.49
10. DAVID EU YEE TAT 11,523,806 3.20
11. DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 5,625,000 1.56
12. EU YEE KWONG GEOFFREY 4,738,667 1.31
13. AMFRASER SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 3,437,500 0.95
14. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 3,102,750 0.86
15. EU YAN WAI HING VIRGINIA 3,089,292 0.86
16. EU MEI YING HELENA MRS HELENA HO 2,772,056 0.77
17. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 2,444,810 0.68
18. CHANG SEOW YING ALISON 1,875,000 0.52
19. LAURENCE YEE LYE EU 1,875,000 0.52
20. VICTORIA EU 1,875,000 0.52

TOTAL 309,940,852 85.99

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

Approximately, 23.94% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the Public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Public is defined in the Listing Manual as persons other than:-

(a) directors, chief executive officer, substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiary companies; and
(b) associates of the persons in paragraph (a).

Statistics of Shareholdings 
As at 17th September 2008
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd. (“the Company”) will be held at 
Function Room 5.1, School of Information Systems, Singapore Management University, 80 Stamford Road, Singapore 178902 
on Thursday, 30 October 2008 at 3.00 p.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2008 
together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

  
2. To declare a first and final dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share (or a 

total of 2 cents per ordinary share) (one-tier tax exempt) for the year ended 30 June 2008 [2007: a first and final dividend 
of 1 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share (or a total of 2 cents per ordinary 
share)]. (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 109 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company:

  
 Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee (Resolution 3)
 Mr Robert James Yee Sang Eu (Resolution 4)

 Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the Compensation Committee, a member of the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee and the 
Strategic Direction Committee and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

 Mr Robert James Yee Sang Eu will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the 
Strategic Direction Committee, a member of the Compensation Committee and will be considered non-independent for 
the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$167,000 for the year ending 30 June 2009, to be paid quarterly in arrears 
(2008: S$169,000). (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company 
to fix their remuneration.  
  (Resolution 6)

  
6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without any modifications:
  
7. Authority to issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of the issued shares in the capital of the Company

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares 
to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the 
Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in 
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in 
force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per 
centum (50%) of the total number of  issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments 
to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per 
centum (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) for the 
purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph 
(1) above, the percentage of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after 
adjusting for: 

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities;
(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and subsisting at 

the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 
(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) and the Articles of Association 
of the Company; and 

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force (i) until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued 
in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such shares in 
accordance with the terms of the Instruments.

 [See Explanatory Note] (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

Heng Hang Siong @ Heng Hock Kiong
Tan Cher Liang
Company Secretaries

Singapore, 14 October 2008

Notice of Annual General Meeting



133

Explanatory Note:

The Ordinary Resolution 7 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this Meeting 
until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever 
is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such instruments, 
up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the 
Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the Company 
will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the 
time this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments 
or any convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time 
when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Notes :

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy to 
attend and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

  
2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 269A South Bridge 

Road, Singapore 058818 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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EU YAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LTD.
Company Registration No. 199302179H
(Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

Proxy Form
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We, 

of

being a member/members of  Eu Yan Sang International Ltd.  (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %
Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to 
vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on 30 October 2008 
at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed 
at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.  If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at 
the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority 
herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)
No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against
 1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2008 
2 Payment of proposed first & final dividend of 1 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend 

of 1 cent per ordinary share
3 Re-election of Dr Jennifer Gek Choo Lee as a Director
4 Re-election of Mr Robert James Yee Sang Eu as a Director
5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$167,000 for the year ending 30 June 2009
6 Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as  Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix 

their remuneration
7 Authority to allot and issue new shares

Dated this day of  2008

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares
(a)  CDP Register
(b)  Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT:
For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Eu Yan Sang International 1. 
Ltd’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for 2. 
all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 3. 
requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified. 
If they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF 
Approved Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on 
their behalf.



Notes :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you 
have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 
should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your 
name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies 
to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 3. 
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the 4. 
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, 
and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument 
of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at   269A South Bridge 
Road, Singapore 058818 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 
its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be 
lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it 
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 
Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified 
by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.




